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Corporate Information

INVESTOR AND PUBLIC RELATIONS

IR@gwtd.com.hk

STOCK CODE

1232

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.gwtd.com.hk

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (“Golden Wheel” or the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”) in January 2013 (Stock Code: 1232). The Group’s major
businesses include investment holding, commercial and residential property
development, property investment, property management and hotel operation.
The Group is an integrated commercial and residential property developer,
owner and operator in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") and focuses on developing projects that are physically connected or in

close proximity to metro stations or other transportation hubs.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is
pleased to announce the unaudited consolidated results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In the first half of 2019, China’s real estate market remained stable in terms
of both overall transaction volume and price. During the period, market
sentiment has gradually improved, and the Group has accelerated the launch
of its pre-sale projects. As a result, the Group has achieved a record high
contracted sales during the period. For the six months ended 30 June 2019,
the Group and its joint ventures and associates contracted sales amounted to
RMB1,867.4 million, which was 46.7% higher than the corresponding period
in 2018. On the other hand, to maintain the Group’s competitive edge as well
as to ensure its sustainable development, in March 2019, the Group acquired
a piece of land which has a total saleable gross floor area (“GFA”) of 204,646
sq.m. in Nanjing. This is the Group's best quality project ever as the land is in
a prime location, which is in a walking distance to Nanjing South Station, and

the land cost is only around RMB4,600 per sq.m.

The Group's another strategy is to increase its recurring income. As at 30
June 2019, the Group had investment properties with a carrying value of
RMBG6,234.7 million. The growth of the Group’s recurring income from
property leasing and hotel operation businesses remained stable during the
period and it has achieved a stable increase of 12.6% when compared to the

corresponding period in 2018.

Property development

Contracted sales

The Group currently has 11 projects on sale. During the period, the Group has
launched the pre-sale of two new projects, namely Golden Wheel Romantic
Tower and Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting. Both projects are located in
Nanjing. For the six months ended 30 June 2019, the Group and its joint
ventures and associates achieved total contracted sales value and contracted
sales area of approximately RMB1,867.4 million (30 June 2018: RMB1,273.1
million) and approximately 151,667 sq.m. (30 June 2018: 96,780 sq.m.)

respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Property sales

For the six months ended 30 June 2019, the Group’s revenue from sale of
properties amounted to approximately RMB422.2 million with an aggregate
GFA of approximately 33,757 sq.m. being sold and delivered. The average
selling price of these sold properties amounted to approximately RMB12,506.8

per sq.m.

As at 30 June 2019, there were total unrecognised contracted sales of
RMB708.1 million. These unrecognised contracted sales are expected to be
recognised in the second half of 2019 and in 2020 as and when the related

projects are completed and delivered.

New land acquired during the first half of 2019 and land bank of the
Group

In March 2019, the Group acquired a piece of land in Nanjing City, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC with a site area of approximately 101,845.10 sq.m. Its
comprehensive plot ratio is 5.79. The newly acquired land is located at the
central axis of Nanjing South Station, Dong Shan Street, Jiang Ning District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province. The land is designated for developing

commercial, service and office use with a term of 40 years.

The Group currently has 20 projects under development or on sale, which
included 5 projects managed by joint venture and associate entities. Average
land cost for these 20 projects amounted to approximately RMB3,600 per

sq.m.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had a total land bank of GFA of 1,785,496
sq.m. including 120,421 sq.m. of completed but unsold properties, 16,597
sq.m. of own used properties, 143,903 sq.m. of completed investment
properties, 1,004,838 sq.m. of properties under development and 499,737

sq.m. of properties developed by joint venture and associate entities.

RN 2 i T A 3
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jinqiao Huafu
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Property leasing

Rental income arising from the Group’s investment properties maintained
a stable growth in the current period. As at 30 June 2019, the Group had
completed investment properties with a total GFA of approximately 143,903
sq.m. The average occupancy rate of the Group’s investment properties was

close to 90%.

Metro leasing and operational management business

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had leasing and operational management
contracts of 15 metro station shopping malls in four cities in mainland China,
namely, Nanjing, Suzhou, Wuxi and Changsha with a total leasable GFA of
around 68,914 sq.m. As at 30 June 2019, 10 metro station shopping malls

were under operation and the overall occupancy rate was over 90%.

Hotel operation

Our new hotel, Golden Wheel Hampton by Hilton in Changsha, commenced
its operation in April 2019. In June 2019, its occupancy rate had already

reached 80% which was considered a very good result for a brand new hotel.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had three hotels under operation, namely Silka
West Kowloon Hotel in Hong Kong, Golden Wheel Atour Hotel in Nanjing
and Golden Wheel Hampton by Hilton in Changsha. Total number of rooms
for these three hotels amounts to 456. Average room occupancy rate of these

three hotels during the period was over 90%.

Significant investments held

The Group’s major investment was its equity investment in the shares of
Xiamen International Bank. As at 30 June 2019, the Group had 34 million (31
December 2018: 34 million) unlisted equity shares of Xiamen International
Bank with a carrying value of RMB192.1 million (31 December 2018:
RMB173.0 million). The investment is for long-term purpose and it can also

further enhance the business relationship between the Group and Xiamen

International Bank.

4 55) 4 e W B T i
Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden
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Management Discussion and Analysis

First property development project in Hong Kong

The development progress of the Group's first commercial project in Hong
Kong which was acquired in 2018 was on schedule. It is expected that the
project would be completed in December 2019. The Group plans to re-develop
the project, which is located near Tin Hau MTR Station in Hong Kong, into a

commercial building with a total GFA of approximately 51,975 square feet.

Financing

In February 2019, the Group issued additional senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of USD160 million, bearing coupon rate of 7% per annum
and due in January 2021. Proceeds from this issue was solely used for the
repurchase of part of the senior notes in the principal amount of USD300
million issued by the Group, bearing coupon rate of 8.25% per annum and due
in November 2019.

OUTLOOK

The Communist Party’s Politburo meeting in July 2019 has released a
message and emphasised the principle that “housing is used for living, not for
speculation”. Instead of using property as a short-term means of stimulating
the economy, local government was required to implement a long-term
mechanism for the real estate market. The home price to income ratio and
leverage ratio have reached such a level that the risk of loosening property
policies far outweighs the benefits. As such, the Group believes the existing
control policies on the property market will continue to be in place and remain
stable. The Group also expects that in the second half of 2019, more Chinese
property developers would reduce land acquisition and put emphasis on cash
collection from projects sales, possibly at discounted prices, to offset the impact

of a financing squeeze.

Starting from the second half of 2016, the Group has been actively
participating in public auctions to acquire good quality land that can meet the
Group’s development strategy. As at 30 June 2019, the Group had a land bank
of GFA of 1,785,496 sq.m. which could enable the Group’s stable growth for

the next three years.

In the second half of 2019, two projects, namely Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside
Orchid Garden and Nanjing Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza, are expected to
be completed and delivered. In addition, the Group has scheduled to launch
the pre-sale of two projects, namely Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua
Ting and Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza, in the second half of 2019. Total
saleable value of these two projects amounted to approximately RMBL1.6
billion.
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For leasing business, contributed by the Group’s new shopping malls which
were opened in the second half of 2017 and the period, together with the
continual increase in overall rental rate, the Group is confident that recurring
rental income will continue to achieve a reasonable growth in the second half of
2019. The Group's strategy is to continue building up its investment property

portfolio so as to maintain a stable return to its shareholders.

Last but not least, the Group's hotel operation business ran very well in the
first half of 2019, with an average room occupancy rate of over 90%. Including
the newly launched hotel in Changsha, it is expected that there would be a

considerable increase in hotel revenue for the full 2019 year.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to carry out its core strategy, that is
“Focusing on the development and operation of projects that are physically
connected to metro stations or other transportation hub”. Together with the
Group’s prudent financial management, the Group believes it could maintain

its competitive edge for furcher development and expansion.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of operation

Revenue

The Group's revenue consists of revenue derived from (i) sale of developed
properties; (ii) rental income from property leasing; and (iii) income from hotel
operation. The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue

and the percentage of total revenue for the periods indicated:

BETF AN A

For the six months ended

“E-EAAZTH —F—/)FENA=ZTH

30 June 2019 30 June 2018
(REFE) (RECER)
(unaudited) (unaudited)
AR % ARWFFIT %
RMB000 % RMBO00 %
[ 3 2 B % Property development 422,191 75.2 724,153 854
Y& Property leasing 109,035 194 99,693 118
5 é& i Hotel operation 29,964 5.4 23,739 2.8
o Total 561,190 100.0 847,585 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis

T P 0

The Nanjing South Station Project

The Group’s revenue was primarily generated from its sale of developed
properties, which accounted for 75.2% of its revenue for the six months ended
30 June 2019 (six months ended 30 June 2018: 85.4%), rental income from
property leasing, which accounted for 19.4% of its revenue for the six months
ended 30 June 2019 (six months ended 30 June 2018: 11.8%) and income
from hotel operation, which accounted for 5.4% of its revenue for the six
months ended 30 June 2019 (six months ended 30 June 2018: 2.8%). Revenue
decreased by 33.8% from RMB847.6 million for the six months ended 30 June
2018 to RMB561.2 million for the six months ended 30 June 2019, primarily

due to the decrease in revenue derived from the sale of developed properties.

Property development

Revenue derived from the property development business decreased by 41.7%
from RMB724.2 million for the six months ended 30 June 2018 to RMB422.2
million for the six months ended 30 June 2019. This decrease was primarily
due to the decrease in the total GFA sold and delivered during the first half
of 2019. During the period, the Group had only completed and delivered one

project.

Property leasing

Revenue derived from property leasing increased by 9.4% to RMB109.0
million for the six months ended 30 June 2019 (six months ended 30 June
2018: RMB99.7 million). The increase was mainly due to the addition of one
new metro station shopping mall as well as the increase in average rent during
the period. The overall occupancy rate maintained at around 90% for the

period.
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Hortel operation

Revenue derived from hotel operation increased by 26.2% to RMB30.0 million
for the six months ended 30 June 2019 (six months ended 30 June 2018:
RMB23.7 million). The increase was mainly due to the opening of Golden
Wheel Hampton by Hilton in April 2019. Our hotels operated very well

during the period with an average occupancy rate of over 90%.

Cost of sales
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s cost of sales for the

periods indicated:

BE T H L H
For the six months ended
SR -NEAAZTH e SN SN B
30 June 2019 30 June 2018
(REFER) (REHEY)
(unaudited) (unaudited)
A REF % ANREFTFIT %
RMB000 % RMB000 %
5 Hh 7 B Property development
N — Land acquisition costs 123,672 43.0 194,536 46.0
— B — Construction costs 108,175 37.6 134,252 318
— EARAL B A — Capitalised finance costs 26,175 9.1 49,001 11.6
—FiIH B 3 — Tax expenses 3,891 1.4 6,860 16
NS Subtotal 261913 91.1 384,649 91.0
E TNy Property leasing 9,688 34 25,395 60
s B Hortel operation 15,866 5.5 12,553 3.0
st Total 287,467 100.0 422,597 100.0

HERARERE =T/ FAH =1 H IS
HENR¥42260 BT D320 8B E %
— AR A= HIEAE A AR 287 5H
T EERREEC S ERD -

Cost of sales decreased by 32.0% from RMB422.6 million for the six months
ended 30 June 2018 to RMB287.5 million for the six months ended 30 June

2019, primarily due to the decrease in the sale of developed properties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit decreased by 35.6% from RMB425.0 million for the six months
ended 30 June 2018 to RMB273.7 million for the six months ended 30 June
2019, primarily due to the decrease in gross profit generated from the sale of
developed properties which was offset by the increase in gross profit generated

from property leasing and hotel operation.

Gross profit margin of the Group decreased from 50.1% for the six months
ended 30 June 2018 to 48.8% for the six months ended 30 June 2019,
primarily due to the decrease in gross profit margin of the sale of developed

properties.

The gross profit margin of the sale of developed properties decreased from
46.9% for the six months ended 30 June 2018 to 38.0% for the six months
ended 30 June 2019. The decrease was mainly because fewer commercial units,
which have a higher gross profit margin than residential units, were sold

during the period.

The gross profit margin for property leasing increased from 74.5% for the six
months ended 30 June 2018 to 91.1% for the six months ended 30 June 2019.
The increase was mainly due to the reclassification of the rental costs which
were included in the cost of sales in 2018 to change in fair value of investment
properties and financial costs as a result of the adoption of the new accounting
standard IFRS 16 for the period ended 30 June 2019.

Changes in fair value of investment properties
The Group's investment properties were revaluated at the end of each of the
relevant periods as at 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018 on an open market value

or existing use basis by an independent property valuer.

The fair value change of investment properties decreased by 13.8% from
RMB180.0 million as at 30 June 2018 to RMB155.1 million as at 30 June
2019.

e 5 4 i 22 22 M)
Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza
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Management Discussion and Analysis

T A 4 0 3 4 2
Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower

HMN -~ P ez RIE1E Other income, expense, gains and losses

AEENEE T FEAH=1H IEAEA The Group had a net gain of RMBS8.5 million for other income, expense,
HRHAROA ~ B 3~ WA B 18 kA5 4 T30 4 gains and losses for the six months ended 30 June 2019 (net loss for the six
AR¥ssHET (B2=F—/\FAA=1H months ended 30 June 2018: RMB21.1 million). The net gain for the six
1EAEH SIS ERFE: AR 2188 T) - months ended 30 June 2019 mainly consisted of dividend and interest income
BWEFEJUEAA =T BB A Bl F of RMB18.1 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2018: RMB25.4
BT EAERE A B RANERISIH ST million) and fair value gain from financial assets at fair value through profit or
(BE_F—-NFEAA=ZTHIEAMA: AR loss of RMB20.3 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2018: fair value
Wos4mEn) > REAFEF ARG ZNE loss of RMB3.8 million), which were offset by net foreign exchange losses of
Bl AT N R¥E203H o0 (BZ = RMBI12.4 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2018: RMB44.2 million),
F—/)EARNAZTHIEAEA - ATFEBEA loss from repurchases of senior notes of RMB18.1 million (for the six months
R¥3 SHET) - B R ERIFE AR 1240 ended 30 June 2018: Nil) and donation of RMB10.0 million (for the six
Bt (BEZF—/EAH=1THIEAMA : months ended 30 June 2018: Nil).

ANR#4420 Ee) - B0 EE B R AR

18B1ABT (BE_F-NEAA=ZFTHIEA

i H - %) R AR AR 000 &oT (B E

ZE - NEAAZTHIEAEA - F) P -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Selling and marketing expenses
Selling and marketing expenses primarily consisted of advertising and

promotional expenses.

Selling and marketing expenses increased from RMB18.1 million for the six
months ended 30 June 2018 to RMB23.8 million for the six months ended 30
June 2019, mainly due to the increase in advertising and promotional expenses

for the pre-sale activities of projects during the period.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses primarily consisted of staff salaries and benefits,
depreciation and amortisation, office expenses, travelling expenses, professional

fees, utilities and property tax, land use tax and stamp duty.

Administrative expenses decreased slightly from RMB87.5 million for the six
months ended 30 June 2018 to RMB85.1 million for the six months ended
30 June 2019. During the period, the Group continued to maintain tight cost
control policy. As a result, even though the Group has carried out more selling
activities and increased its operating scale, the Group was able to maintain a
similar level of overall administrative expenses as that in the corresponding

period in 2018.

Share of profits of associates and joint ventures

The Group’s share of profits of associates and joint ventures amounted to
RMB118.0 million during the six months ended 30 June 2019 (for the
six months ended 30 June 2018: RMB100.0 million). The Group shared
the profits from its 33% owned associate, which, during the period, has
completed and delivered a project in Nanjing with a gross profit margin of
33.0%, resulting in an increase in the Group’s share of profits of associates of
RMB106.2 million from RMB3.6 million for the six months ended 30 June
2018 to RMB109.8 million for the six months ended 30 June 2019.
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Finance costs

Finance costs consisted primarily of interest expenses on borrowings net of
capital finance costs. Finance costs decreased from RMB86.3 million for the
six months ended 30 June 2018 to RMB74.1 million for the six months
ended 30 June 2019, primarily because more finance costs were qualified to be
capitalised to properties under development for sales and investment properties
under development in 2019 as the Group had more projects under development

during the period.

Income tax

Tax expenses decreased by RMB104.4 million from RMB244.1 million for
the six months ended 30 June 2018 to RMB139.7 million for the six months
ended 30 June 2019. The decrease was due to the decrease of PRC corporate
income tax and land appreciation tax which resulted from the decrease in
revenue from the sale of developed properties as well as the decrease of gross

profit margin of sale of developed properties.

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
Net profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company was RMB232.7
million for the six months ended 30 June 2019, representing a decrease of

6.1% from RMB247.9 million for the corresponding period in 2018.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

Cash position

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s cash and bank balances were RMB1,572.2
million (31 December 2018: RMB997.9 million), including restricted bank
deposits of RMB973.9 million (31 December 2018: RMB275.9 million) and
structured bank deposits of RMB42.0 million (31 December 2018: RMB146.0
million). The increase in cash and bank balances was mainly due to the fact
that the Group has obtained a number of construction loans for our PRC

projects during the period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bank and other borrowings

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were RMB6,688.3
million (including senior notes of RMB3,386.6 million), representing an
increase of RMB832.3 million from RMB5,856.0 million as at 31 December
2018 (including senior notes of RMB3,326.7 million). Of the bank
borrowings, RMB1,798.6 million are repayable within one year or on demand,
RMB466.5 million are repayable between one and two years and RMB1,036.6
million are repayable between two and five years. Senior notes of RMB1,040.3
million are repayable within one year and RMB2,346.4 million are repayable

after one year.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s bank borrowings of RMB3,226.9 million
were secured by the properties, including land and buildings, investment
properties, properties under development for sale and completed properties
held for sale, and cash of the Group with a total carrying value of RMB8,409.5
million. The senior notes were secured by the share pledge of a majority of the

Group’s subsidiaries incorporated outside the PRC.

Except for the senior notes, the majority of the Group’s bank borrowings
carried a floating interest rate linked with the base lending rate of the
People’s Bank of China, London Inter-bank offered rate or Hong Kong Inter-
bank offered rate. The Group's interest rate risk is mainly associated with the

floating interest rates of its bank borrowings.

Cost of borrowings

For the six months ended 30 June 2019, the Group's total cost of borrowings
was RMB218.3 million, representing an increase of RMB45.9 million or
26.7% as compared to the figure in the corresponding period in 2018 which
was RMB172.4 million. The increase was primarily due to the higher average
debt balance in the period as compared to the corresponding period in 2018.
The Group's average costs of borrowings during the six months ended 30 June

2019 and 2018 were approximately 7.24% and 6.78%, respectively.

Gearing ratio

The net gearing ratio was calculated by dividing the total borrowings (net of
cash, structured and restricted bank deposits) by the total equity. As at 30 June
2019, the net gearing ratio of the Group was 107.0% (31 December 2018:
105.4%).

The Group’s debt-to-asset ratio (total indebtedness divided by total assets) was
approximately 69.5% as at 30 June 2019 versus approximately 66.9% as at 31
December 2018.
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Foreign exchange rate risk

The Group operates its businesses mainly in China and a majority of the
Group’s bank deposits and bank and other borrowings are denominated in
Renminbi. Certain bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars or US dollars. Fluctuations in foreign
currencies” exchange rates have had and will continue to have an impact on the
business, financial condition and results of operations of the Group. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy but the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Contingent liabilities

The Group typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with its
customers’ mortgage loans to finance their purchases of the Group’s properties.
The Group’s guarantees are released upon the banks receiving the individual
property ownership certificate of the respective properties from the customers
as pledges for security to the mortgage loan granted. If any such customer
defaults on the mortgage payment during the terms of the respective
guarantees, the banks may demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount
of the mortgage loan of such defaulting customer and any accrued interest

thereon.

As at 30 June 2019, mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group to the
banks in favour of its customers amounted to RMB208.0 million (31 December
2018: RMB96.3 million). In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the

guarantees at initial recognition is insignificant as the default rate is low.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had a total of approximately 680 (31 December
2018: 593) full-time employees in Hong Kong and China. The Group enters
into employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such as job
position, terms of employment, wage, employee benefits and liabilities for
breaches and grounds for termination. Remuneration of the Group’s employees
includes basic salaries, allowances, pensions, performance bonuses and share
options. Remuneration is determined with reference to the performance, skills,
qualifications and experience of the employee concerned and the prevailing

industry practice.

Total employee costs for the period ended 30 June 2019, including Director’s
emoluments, amounted to approximately RMB44.3 million (six months ended
30 June 2018: RMB47.1 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained the public float as required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during the period under review.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS RELATING
TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In accordance with the disclosure requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing
Rules, set out below are details of the Company’s term loan facility entered
into during the period ended 30 June 2019 and/or subsisting at the end of
the period ended 30 June 2019, which contains covenants requiring specific

performance obligations of the Company’s controlling shareholders:

On 30 November 2017, the Group entered into a facility agreement for a
HKD330 million term loan facility. The loan agreement includes certain
conditions requiring the Company’s controlling shareholders, the Wong family
(Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong
Kam Keung, Barry) to maintain their status as the single largest shareholder of
the Company. Failing to do so would constitute an event of default under the
loan facility agreement. The term loan facility has an initial term of three years
with an option to extend for another two years commencing from the date on

which the first advancement under the facility agreement is made.

On 10 July 2018, the Group entered into facility agreements for a HKD708
million term loan facility. The loan agreement includes certain conditions
requiring the Wong family to maintain, directly or indirectly, at least 30% of
the beneficial interest of the Company. Failing to do so would constitute an
event of default under the facility agreements. The term loan facility has a term
of two years commencing from the drawdown of the loan of up to HKD200
million and a term of two and a half years commencing from the drawdown of

the loan of up to HKD508 million.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing

Rules, were as follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

HHEA

Name of Director

EHE
Wong Yam Yin®

F o
Wong Kam Fai®

Eme

Wong Kam Keung, Barry"

Tjie Tjin Fung®?

Suwita Janata®

(“4)

Gunawan Kiky

AR AT

Betrsk CEATRARE R

Eeg/vg t i A T 48 WA 2 b

Approximate

percentage of

Aggregate interest

number of in the issued

shares or share capital

underlying of the

Capacity/Nature of Interest shares Company

Z A E 705,811,600 39.16%
Interest of a controlled corporation

Z e 705,811,600 39.16%
Interest of a controlled corporation

X5k B i 705,811,600 39.16%
Interest of a controlled corporation

1k i 80,268,950 4.45%
Interest of a controlled corporation

Z Pk AR e 1 1 4 128,539,400 7.13%
Interest of a controlled corporation/

Interest of spouse
ZYLEME G EaA A 86,118,950 4.77%

Interest of a controlled corporation/

Beneficial owner
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1

(2)

(3)

“)

FECBEA R Lt THMEAE R
A A 0 RO L e E A A RH R
e (TERFER ) BERIM A/ Sl T EARA
H R 705,811,600 B M £y o F 8k B 5 A= Bk
RR L RRF FHMERAE R MR EE
BESRERERERE LM F-

Tjie Tjin Fung e 4 BEAT 14 R4 G245 1 Tiie Tjin
Fung ek R H R BEA 12 7] Bl B A R
A R 980,268,950 173

Suwita ]anata?ﬁﬂi%ﬁﬂgﬂﬁ%\@ﬁ(i)ﬂi Suwita
JanatadE A A B HEAT ¥ 2 7 4 I ROKAE 2R
PR FIREAT 980,268,950 40y » B (ii) HH Julia
Oscar =2 G HEAT 1045 7] 4 R A A 28 Jl A7
B2 J) A 948,270,450 BB 47 © Suwita Janata
Je e By Julia OscarZr 121 30K B ESCE 41
kK

Gunawan Kiky %64 8 47 0 i 6 8 45 (i)
Gunawan KikyZe4 JCH FE A 09 2 8 KO
PE A B A W) 3 980,268,950 B M >
(i) Gunawan Kiky /&£ 36 15,850,000 8¢ B
e

Note:

1)

(2)

(3)

“4)

25 B

Disclosure of Interests

Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 705,811,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Wong Yam Yin and his family (the
“Wong Family”). Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife.
Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin
and Ms. Hung So Ling.

Shares owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung consist of 80,268,950 shares held by Chun Hung

Investments Limited, a company owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung and his family.

Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden
Era Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita
Janata, and (ii) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company
Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the

husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Shares owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Fire
Spark Holdings Limited, a company owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky and his family, and
(i1) 5,850,000 shares held by Mr. Gunawan Kiky.
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HEWH

Name of Director

FHE
Wong Yam Yin

T o
Wong Kam Fai

B

Wong Kam Keung,
Barry

Interests in debentures of the Company:

Ll EoAiN

Capacity/Nature of Interest

Z P B

Interest of a controlled corporation'”

XL

Interest of a controlled corporation”

ek MO

Interest of a controlled corporation”

XL B

Interest of a controlled corporation'”

XA

Interest of a controlled corporation”

XL R

Interest of a controlled corporation”

i 1 i @

Interest of spouse®
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Currency of
debentures

ey
USD

RIT
UsD

Total:

ESpIT
UsD

ey
USD

#it

Total:

eV
UsD

ESpIT
UsD

ey
USD

AN
= Al -

Total:

O H A
REBEY
Aggregate
amount of
debentures
bought

2,000,000

1,600,000

3,600,000

2,000,000

1,600,000

3,600,000

2,000,000

1,600,000

1,200,000

4,800,000

iy il

fi B B AT
fe BB 2 H
Amount of
debentures in
same class

in issue

150,000,000

360,000,000

150,000,000

360,000,000

150,000,000

360,000,000

360,000,000
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Disclosure of Interests

A R — %
CEM AT RS

EREBS B/ WA M E R TE T R EREBHA
Aggregate Amount of
amount of debentures in

Currency of debentures same class

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest debentures bought in issue

Gunawan Kiky HilAa A ETT 400,000 150,000,000

Beneficial owner USD
Huaa A E 1,600,000 360,000,000
Beneficial owner USD
Rk 2,000,000
Total:
TR HasEA A *7 1,000,000 150,000,000
Lie Tak Sen Beneficial owner USD
HilAa A ESn 1,000,000 360,000,000
Beneficial owner USD
At 2,000,000
Total:

gl Haa A EYH 200,000 150,000,000

Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie Beneficial owner UsSD

AR HadEA A *7 200,000 360,000,000

Wong Ying Loi Beneficial owner uSDh

5k - Note:

(1) FEHERBELE - RERR L FHEE
R S e S A SR A A A L
2,000,000 7€ 51,600,000 I ) 25 HE 75 i F
RERBEHIN A A S EERARA AR -

() ZEERERE TSR ERR AR TE L+
A

BR_ESCHT R & AN SR TR |EF
—NEAAZTH EHEAL A RRTEA
BRI SO AR A B B R 15 3520
JRTRRsk - BURMRER b HTA I B8k 1 B i AR
HESF R AT R A 7 BB BT IA A
SSCELAT AT AR B i T 3 S o S D R ko8
XVR) Bt~ AR I A A S fele s i R

(1) These debentures are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling,
Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry in a sum of USD2,000,000
and USD1,600,000 respectively, which are held by Golden Wheel Realty Company
Limited, a company controlled by the Wong Family.

(2) These debentures are owned by Ms. Chan Yuk Kwan Elisa who is the spouse of Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at
30 June 2019, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.
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BEZZ—NEANH=Z1H AN R R K
B A o - BT L REER IR A 4 R AR 2 I
IR 553 36 IRRLE A7 B I B R - SRR
75 BB R 58 XV AR 2 [ 265300 TR ] A4
T VI 22 BT R o e i I SR BN L
T

TR 5 ) e Ao B A B e Aoy B 5 A

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 30 June 2019, the interests and/or short positions of the persons in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company:

AR
JRpr g EBATRAHE S
e AR CLE A T T 4 48 9 WA E 4 b
Approximate
Aggregate percentage of
number of interest in the
shares or issued share
underlying capital of
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares the Company
ToEY ek B AR 705,811,600 39.16%

Wong Yam Yin” Interest of a controlled corporation
BRKO XYk Mt 705,811,600 39.16%

Hung So Ling™" Interest of a controlled corporation
B} X e L 705,811,600 39.16%

Wong Kam Fai® Interest of a controlled corporation
EHmo X4 T e 1 705,811,600 39.16%

Wong Kam Keung, Barry" Interest of a controlled corporation

Suwita Janata? TR RS I A A 2R
Interest of a controlled corporation/ 128,539,400 7.13%
Interest of spouse
Julia Oscar® ZRE R WA R
Interest of a controlled corporation/ 128,539,400 7.13%
Interest of spouse

S ERARAAO Ha A A 705,811,600 39.16%

Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited”

Beneficial owner
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1

(2)

(3)

FHBA B R L TR RS
0 A O RO A R R R R A
] 4 B 2R IR AR 19705,811,6008 ik
e TEREL A B R ¥ o+ Jy KT - T o
ok R TSR B TSR R R L
M5 Fo

Suwita ]anata?ﬁﬂi%ﬁﬂ"]ﬁﬁ%\@ﬁ(i)ﬂi Suwita
JanatadE A A B HEAT ¥ 2 7 4 I ROKAE 2R
PR A FIREAT 980,268,950/ 40y > B (ii) HH Julia
Oscar 1= 2 G HEAT 1045 7] 4 R A A 28 Jl A7
B2 J) A 948,270,450 BB 47 © Suwita Janata
Je e By Julia OscarZr 121 30K B ESCE 41
kK

Julia Oscar & ﬂi%ﬁﬁ"]ﬂﬁ%@ﬁ(i)ﬂﬂ]ulia Oscar
oA E A Y A R A O Kk 1 B A A BR
2 T RE A 948,270,450 B A7 B (i) H Suwita
JanaaSeH 2 EHEA 1020 A A ALK E B LA
PR 1545 1980,268,95 0 MM 47 © Julia Oscar®
+ FiSuwita JanacaJ5 2 B9 FE T J F S0E B
Ik Ik o

Bk b SCBT 8 3 0 PO S BT R > 1 &
—NAEAH=1 A A IRA R B 5
BRI b > BEA IR AR RE 27 S B 26 XVl
52 8300 WRRIBRSCR ) AR R 58 O e i ik
A BB B T A R A ] A
LA DL FEA 22 ) A 4 Al B 8 R 94T
P HLAL 2 ) A S RO b B2 b A TR
AR B B E 2 58U bR HESR » B0 %
SR A ) S FRCHEE v A A

Notes:

1)

(2)

(3)
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Disclosure of Interests

Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 705,811,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by the Wong Family. Mr. Wong Yam Yin
and Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam
Keung, Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling.

Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden
Era Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita
Janata, and (ii) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company
Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the

husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Shares owned by Ms. Julia Oscar consist of (i) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar,
and (ii) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era Forever Holding Company Limited,
a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata. Ms. Julia Oscar is the wife of Mr.

Suwita Janata and the younger sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 30

June 2019, no person had an interest or a short position in the shares or the

underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the

Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the

SFO and no person was, directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the

number of shares comprised in any class of share capital carrying rights to

vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company, or of any other

company which is a member of the Group, or in any options in respect of such

share capital.
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W 1 I B s {3 7
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IR HERR IR B 0~ 4708~ 8 R - R =%
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= H > FHEITE T AR TR B HE 258,700,000
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IR - E S S E A TREE
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The participants of the
Scheme include any Director (including executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors) and employees of any
member of the Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
customers, suppliers, agents, business partners, joint venture business partners

and service providers of any member of the Group.

The Scheme became effective on 10 December 2012 and unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years to 10

December 2022.

During the six months ended 30 June 2019, no share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Scheme. There were 8,700,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme as at 31 December 2018 and as at 30
June 2019. These 8,700,000 share options were granted by the Company
on 23 July 2014 to certain key management personnel and employees of the
Group. With the satisfaction of certain performance targets determined by the
Directors, the share options were vested to the grantors in four equal tranches
upon the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the date of grant of
options, and are exercisable by the grantees during the period from 23 July
2015 to 22 July 2024 at the exercise price of HKD1 per share.

As at 30 June 2019 and the date of this interim report, the total number of
shares of the Company available for grant under the Scheme was 171,300,000

shares, representing approximately 9.5% of the issued shares of the Company.

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
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Other Information

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to maintaining
high standards of corporate governance. The Board firmly believes that
conducting the Group’s business in a transparent and responsible manner and
following good corporate governance practices serve its long-term interests and

those of shareholders.

During the six months ended 30 June 2019, the Company has complied
with the code provisions (the “Code Provision”) set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and most of

the recommended best practices contained therein.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company
with an aim to maintaining and improving a high standard of corporate

governance practices.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
with specific terms of reference explaining its role and authorities delegated
by the Board. The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent
non-executive Directors: Mr. Li Sze Keung (Chairman) (appointed on 14
June 2019), Mr. Lie Tak Sen and Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie, who together
have sufficient accounting and financial management expertise and business
experience to carry out their duties. Mr. Li Yiu Fai resigned as chairman and a

member of the Audit Committee on 14 June 2019.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are: to review and supervise the
Company’s financial reporting process, half-yearly and annual results, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit
function performed by the internal audit department of the Group and provide
advice and comments to the Board. The Audit Committee meets with the
external auditors and the management of the Group to ensure that the audit

findings are addressed properly.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the unaudited interim consolidated
financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2019 and discussed with
the Company’s management regarding risk management, internal control and

other important matters.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) with specific terms of reference which deal clearly with its
authorities and duties. The Remuneration Committee currently consists of two
independent non-executive Directors and an executive Director: Mr. Wong Cho
Kei, Bonnie (Chairman), an independent non-executive Director, Mr. Wong
Kam Fai, an executive Director, and Mr. Lie Tak Sen, an independent non-

executive Director.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are: to make
recommendations to the Directors on the Company's policy and structure
for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies
on such remuneration; to assess the performance of each executive Director; to
recommend to the Board on the terms of the specific remuneration package of
each executive Director and senior management (adopted the approach under
Code Provision B.1.2(c)(ii)); and to review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the

Directors from time to time.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with specific terms of reference explaining its role and
authorities delegated by the Board. The Nomination Committee currently
consists of two independent non-executive Directors and an executive Director:
Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman), an executive Director, Mr. Wong Ying Loi,
an independent non-executive Director, and Mr. Li Sze Keung, an independent
non-executive Director (appointed on 14 June 2019). Mr. Li Yiu Fai resigned as

a member of the Nomination Committee on 14 June 2019.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are: to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board on a regular basis; to make recommendations
to the Board regarding any proposed changes; to identify, select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession

planning for Directors.

A Director appointed by the Board is subject to election by shareholders at the
first annual general meeting after his appointment in case of the appointment
of an additional Director or at the first general meeting after his appointment

in case of filling of casual vacancy.
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Other Information

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The management of the Company has proactively taken and will continue to
take the following measures to ensure effective shareholders’ communication
and transparency: a) maintain frequent contacts with shareholders and investors
through various channels such as meetings, telephone and emails; b) regularly
update the Company's news and developments through the investor relations
section of the Company’s website; and c) arrange on-site visits to the Group’s

projects for potential investors and research analysts.

Through the above measures, the Company endeavors to communicate with
the investment community and provide them with the latest development
of the Group and the PRC real estate industry. The Company discloses
information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and publishes periodic
reports and announcements to the public in accordance with the relevant laws
and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure information
disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby enabling
shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and informed

decisions.

In addition, shareholders and investors are welcome to write their enquires
directly to the Board a) by mail to the Company’s principal place of business,
b) by fax on (852) 2566 3070 or c) by email at IR@gwtd.com.hk.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its code for securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiries with all the Directors and all of them
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in

the Model Code during the period under review.

ISSUANCE OF SENIOR NOTES

On 25 February 2019, the Company issued additional senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of USD160 million, bearing coupon rate of 7%
per annum and due in January 2021 (the “Additional Notes”), which were
consolidated and formed a single class with the senior notes issued by the
Company on 18 January 2018 in the aggregate principal amount of USD200
million bearing coupon rate of 7% per annum and due in January 2021. The
Additional Notes have been admitted to the official list of Singapore Exchange

Securities Trading Limited.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

With respect to the senior notes in the principal amount of USD300 million
with a coupon rate of 8.25% per annum and due in November 2019 (the
“USD 2019 Notes”), the Company repurchased part of the USD 2019 Notes
in the aggregate principal amount of USD138 million in March 2019. After
the cancellation of the repurchased USD 2019 Notes on 12 March 2019, the
aggregate principal amount of the USD 2019 Notes which remains outstanding
and subject to the terms of the indenture governing the USD 2019 Notes is
USD150 million as at 12 March 2019.

Meanwhile, the Company further repurchased part of the USD 2019 Notes
in the aggregate principal amount of USD7.7 million in June and July 2019.
After the cancellation of the repurchased USD 2019 Notes on 21 August
2019, the aggregate principal amount of the USD 2019 Notes which remains
outstanding and subject to the terms of the indenture governing the USD 2019
Notes is USD142.3 million as at 21 August 2019.

Save as disclosed above, there was no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the
Company's listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
the six months ended 30 June 2019.

INTERIM DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to declare any interim dividend for the six months

ended 30 June 2019.

By order of the Board
Wong Yam Yin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 August 2019
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Report on Review of Consolidated Financial Statements
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Review report to the board of directors
of Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

INTRODUCTION

We have reviewed the interim financial report set out on pages 33 to 84
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position of Golden
Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) as of 30 June
2019 and the related consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity and condensed
consolidated cash flow statement for the six month period then ended and
explanatory notes. The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited require the preparation of an interim
financial report to be in compliance with the relevant provisions thereof and
International Accounting Standard 34, Interim financial reporting, issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board. The directors are responsible for
the preparation and presentation of the interim financial report in accordance

with International Accounting Standard 34.

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on our review, on the interim
financial report and to report our conclusion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for

the contents of this report.
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SCOPE OF REVIEW

We conducted our review in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, Review of interim financial information performed by
the independent auditor of the entity, issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”). A review of the interim financial
report consists of making enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for
financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review
procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing and consequently does not
enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant
matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly we do not express an

audit opinion.

CONCLUSION

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that the interim financial report as at 30 June 2019 is not prepared, in
all material respects, in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34,

Interim financial reporting.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 August 2019
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A 1H A S H A 4 i WL i 3R
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

BEF—NENAZTHIEAMA CGREFHR)  For the six months ended 30 June 2019 (unaudited)
IR FI7R Expressed in Renminbi

BEAA=ZTHLEAMEA

Six months ended 30 June

ZENE “E— N
2019 2018
(B 3E )
. B (Note)
fit 3t AR T AW T
NOTE RMB 000 RMB000
Wi Revenue 3 561,190 847,585
A Cost of sales 3 (287,467) (422,597)
Ef Gross profit 273,723 424,988
REMENTHES Changes in fair value of
i i investment properties 7(c) 155,114 180,024
HAboA ~ B 2 i di Mg 1R Other income, expense, gains and losses 4(b) 8,539 (21,142)
5@' ER AL Selling and marketing expenses (23,797) (18,127)
il Administrative expenses (85,061) (87,514)
@’%ﬁﬂ Profit from operations 328,518 478,229
Al & A Finance costs 4(a) (74,067) (86,335)
R A W % ) B i Share of profits of associates 109,809 3,628
JEAG A 2 A 2 00 i A1 Share of profits of joint ventures 8,200 96,396
b L s Profit before taxation 372,460 491,918
B e B Income tax 5 (139,715) (244,068)
A v B 25 J5t R AN S0 i A Profit for the period attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company 232,745 247,850
il ﬁ@%ﬁq&fﬁ Other comprehensive income for the
(BRBifR B 48 35 A R ) - period (after tax and reclassification
adjustments):
HEMREN B EREHHA Item that may be reclassified
o ‘ subsequently to profit or loss:
#@%Ij} EA N RIE NGl : Exchange differences on translation of
B0 B R Y B R financial statements of the entities with
functional currencies other than RMB (2,803) 1,154
190 DA 2 T M £ Other comprehensive income
for the period (2,803) 1,154
A7 ) HE i JBt R A 390 Total comprehensive income
200 W AR for the period attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company 229,942 249,004
BRER o Earnings per share 6
BA (BRARYT) Basic (RMB per share) 0.129 0.138
i (BRARYT) Diluted (RMB per share) 0.129 0.138

Wik AEMOR ZZ— U~ — R ARG
A 990 O I R S A YR R A 16t
MRIES Ty 5 - I B A B R - M T2 o

A0 SA T Z I FE MG TP I B ot 2 —
7% o A BARERT A R4 R 2 8 2 RS

JAREEL4 o

See note 2.

14.

Interim Report 2019
20194 1

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified

retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated.

The notes on pages 40 to 84 form part of this interim financial report. Details

of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note

33



A W B AR

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RoE-NEASA=1H CREFK)
IR HEFI7R Expressed in Renminbi

At 30 June 2019 (unaudited)

ZE “E-NE
ARA=+H  +ZA=t+—H
At 30 June At 31 December
2019 2018
(FH5E)
(Note)
it &1 AR¥TT AR¥T T
NOTE RMB 000 RMB 000
FHBE E Non-current assets
BEME Investment properties 7 6,234,689 5,708,069
H AW B 5 Kk Other property, plant and equipment 7 629,302 564,462
[k Goodwill 31,241 31,116
i3 =N Interests in associates 455,758 345,949
REERE R Interests in joint ventures 421,361 413,161
HAth 4 & e Other financial assets 8 200,662 182,913
2 BRI 4R AT 77 3K Restricted bank deposits 56,500 70,000
AR A Deferred tax assets 126,282 120,585
8,155,795 7,436,255
WE & E Current assets
PRy E Properties under development for sale 4,673,804 4,516,490
B LEEYE Completed properties for sale 825,620 678,099
BRI A Contract costs 3,474 1,793
Z 5 B HAb RE IR Trade and other receivables 467,407 267,780
HihemEE Other financial assets 4,339 86,189
R RIT A Structured bank deposits 42,000 146,000
52 BRI 4R AT 17 3K Restricted bank deposits 917,368 205,858
He Cash 10 556,311 576,051
7,490,323 6,478,260
B A Current liabilities
B 5 B At A 50R Trade and other payables 11 1,294,007 1,138,093
AHARE Contract liabilities 681,951 491,612
T 4 Rental received in advance 26,565 32,362
HEAE Lease liabilities 2(d) 41,593 -
AT Bank loans 12 1,798,579 1,569,118
Bt Current taxation 626,259 594,122
B Senior notes 13 1,040,279 1,972,944
5,509,233 5,798,251
B A Net current assets 1,981,090 680,009
A R B Total assets less current liabilities 10,136,885 8,116,264

34 Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
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A B B B IR DL A

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
AZE—JUFEANH Z 1 H CREFEZ)  Ac 30 June 2019 (unaudited)

AR #5178 Expressed in Renminbi

=t ST e SN
AA=ZtH  F+ZA=t—H
At 30 June At 31 December

2019 2018
(B3E)
(Note)
it 3 AR ANRET T
NOTE RMB000 RMB'000
e B £ Non-current liabilities
AT R Bank loans 12 1,503,097 960,145
HEAE Lease liabilities 2(d) 244,932 -
AL B VA £ Deferred tax liabilities 1,252,981 1,178,972
T 4 Rental received in advance 9,691 15,048
B Senior notes 13 2,346,356 1,353,795
el 57057 3,507,960 _
B NET ASSETS 4,779,828 4,608,304
A R CAPITAL AND RESERVES
&N Share capital 14(a) 113,099 113,099
Al Reserves 4,666,729 4,495,205
AR TOTAL EQUITY 4,779,828 4,608,304

Wik AEHOR ZZ— &~ — R ARG
5 B0 T2 T B IR A S A S B SR 6%

MRIEIL Ty 2% - W T 50 LB R} o P T2 o See note 2.

A0 SAF Z I TR A P S ot 2 —

Ao

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified

retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated.

The notes on pages 40 to 84 form part of this interim financial report.
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AR RE AR A B 2R
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BWE F - NEANHAHZFTHIEANMEHA (KZ3E4Z)  For the six months ended 30 June 2019 (unaudited)
DA R # 3 7R Expressed in Renminbi

WEERE R
BA R BHBE  EXRE i it BERE  REEN L
Property Share
Share Share Special  Exchange  revaluation options Surplus Retained
capital  premium reserve reserves reserve reserve reserve profits Total

Wit ARETT ARKTT ARKTTE ARETT ARWTX ARETE ARKTE ARKTT ARKTZE
Note — RMBUOO  RMBUO  RMBUO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUO)  RMBUOO

e Sy Balance at 1 January 2018

—~A—Hi&t 1309 476143 25166 51 16631 864 122148 3360478 4341059
BEZF-ERAZFH  Changes in equity for the six months ended

AR MRS : 30 June 2018:

A Profit for the period 5 5 5 5 5 5 - 2as0 247850
2wl Other comprehensive income - - - 1,154 - - - - 1,154
2N SE Total comprehensive income - - - 1,154 S S S 247,850 249,004
DA A S B SRR Equity settled share-based transactions 14(c) 5 5 &= &= &= 114 = = 114
FEEERZME Dividends declared in respect of the

previous year 14(b) - = (50,469) = S S S = (50,469)

RZF=NERAZFHR  Balance at 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018

R NELA - G 13099 476143 201,176 1,205 16631 978 1148 3608328 4539708
iyl Profit for the period - - - - - S S 94,406 94,406
K2 Other comprehensive income - - - (859) - - = o (859)
ESileE L Total comprehensive income 5 5 &= (859) = = &= 94,406 93,551
B R Surplus reserve appropriation - - - - - - 16,327 (16,327) -
DRAGER G %5 Equity settled share-based transactions 14(0) - - - - - 115 - - 115
REECERZME Dividends declared in respect of the

current year 14(b) - - (25,070) - - - - - (25,070)
M%)\ Balance at 31 December 2018 (Note)
TSRS
(Wik) 113,099 6145 176,106 350 16631 1093 138475 3086407 4608304

Miak: AREBMBE R - F—JLE—H—H M 8ET Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, using the modified

TEW R T E I R R S S R BB 6 retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated.
MR Ty o > 0 M 51 LU ) o BB 32 See Note 2.
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BEZT-AFANA=ZFHIEAMEA CREFERZ)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the six months ended 30 June 2019 (unaudited)
AR #5178 Expressed in Renminbi

WEEH A
BA RBEE NG ERRRE i B BBEE  REEA &3
Property Share
Share Share Special  Exchange  revaluation options Surplus Retained
capital  premium reserve reserves reserve reserve reserve profits Total
Wit AREFT ARETL ARETFT AREFT ARKTT AREFT AREFT ARETZ AREFr
Note RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO
e Sy Balance at 31 December 2018
A il 13099 476143 176,106 B0 16631 L9 I3BATS 3686407 4608304
BRI Impact on initial application on IFRS16
ERIFEI6EINE R 2 - - - - - - -4 (841
REZ—NAE—R—HB&R  Balance at 1 January 2019 113,099 476,143 176,106 350 16,631 1,093 138475 3,657,995 4,579,892
REZZ-AEAAZTH Changes in equity for the six months ended
AT R 2 30 June 2019:
R Profit for the period S s - - - - - 232,745 232,745
B:UEe Other comprehensive income = 5 &= (2,803) S S S - (2,803)
Eillekx Total comprehensive income = 5 5 (2,803) 5 5 N NI 229,942
BRREET Surplus reserve appropriation - - - - - - 14,465 (14,465) -
DA ERBEMPLS Equity settled share-based transactions 14(c) S S & & & 114 & & 114
FERERZRE Dividends approved in respect of the
previous years 14(b) - - (30,120) - - - - = (30,120)
REF-0E Balance at 30 June 2019
RAZTHIER 13,09 476143 145,986 0453 1661 L07 152940 3876275 4779828
113,099 476,143 145,986 (2,453) 16,631 1,07 152,940 3,876,275 4779828
SRA0 T84 2 M REALAS ) B s i s 2 — The notes on pages 40 to 84 form part of this interim financial report.
AN
]j o
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S HESRER
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

BEEZ—JUFEARNH =T HIEANMEA (RE&FHF)  For the six months ended 30 June 2019 (unaudited)
IR HEFI7R Expressed in Renminbi

BEAN=ZTHIEAEA

Six months ended 30 June

e 2K “E-NE
2019 2018
(FH3E)
(Note)
Wt & AR¥TT AR¥T T
NOTE RMB'000 RMB000
REWH Operating activities
w4 Cash used in operations (82,201) (583,513)
B Tax paid (26,768) (220,446)
FeCn itk ey Net cash used in operating activities (108,969) (803,959)
BREHEH Investing activities
?E TAF B CRLE Interest received from bank deposits 10,601 9,881
NTEFIARS (TH%ATH Interest received from financial assets
nf]\ﬁifﬂ ) I & RS C ORI R measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 1,528 6,433
B LEREC A B Interest received from investments in
debt instrument - 3,575
A FEF AR B Dividends received from financial assets
Bl i R measured at FVTPL 20 5,919
FREME  WE KA Purchase of property, plant and equipment (25,481) (3,575)
IEEER LARE Purchase of investment in
debt instruments - (139,049)
BRI A T ER ARG Purchase of financial assets measured at
EREE FVTPL - (759,166)
BEWEmM Increase in investment properties (70,758) (28,440)
R—HaEtEzHE Investment in a joint venture - (35,271)
HEYE - WE R Disposal of property, plant and equipment - 1,014
HEREY% Disposal of investment properties 32,769 93,940
HEEE LARE Disposal of investments in
debt instruments = 26,064
AT EF AR B Disposal of financial assets measured
EHEE at FVTPL 97,821 700,829
PEBU PR SR A 77 3K Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits 597,490 211,360
17 A 3% Bl SR 47 A7 3K Placements of restricted bank deposits (1,295,500) (265,666)
PEHUAE W SR AT A7 3K Withdrawal of structured bank deposits 232,000 =
fEA BB RAT /73K Placements of structured bank deposits (128,000) -
In) — ] A 4 4 £ 1R 1 B3R Advance to a joint venture (27,359) -
B IO — B ) R K Repayment received from an associate - 26,832
BEEHRT AL TS Net cash used in investing activities (574,869) (145,720)
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s A Bl ER R

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

BE -F—ILFEASH=THIESAH (KZEH) For the six months ended 30 June 2019 (unaudited)
AR #5178 Expressed in Renminbi

BEAN=ZTHIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

“ENE “E— N
2019 2018
(PHf5E)
(Note)
(ig: ARW T ARBTF I
NOTE RMB 000 RMB000
R Financing activities
A — B A R R Advance from an associate and
EENERERR joint ventures 97,371 3,966
1] — B 0 ) X Repayment to an associate and
—MABELERNR a joint venture (17,021) (33,571)
BT e AR I A3 AR Proceeds from issue of senior notes 957,338 1,283,380
ST BT 1 5 SRR I A B S Payment of expense attributable to
issue of senior notes (16,100) (24,925)
A HE IR SR AT 18 SR £ B 5 Payment of expense attributable to
bank borrowings (2,788) (3,150)
i SRAT R New bank borrowings raised 1,167,063 459,321
B ATIE K Repayments of bank borrowings (394,650) (268,911)
I [ Repurchase of senior note (979,127) -
e FLE Interest paid (143,276) (138,253)
A A2 ] IR Dividends paid to equity shareholders
of the Company (30,120) (50,469)
ENHEHSEAT D Capital element of lease rentals paid (11,980) =
B EMREF B Interest element of lease rentals paid (9,040) =
BB AR Net cash generated from
financing activities 617,670 1,227,388
B4 (WA) / Whns s Net (decrease)/increase in cash (66,168) 277,709
R—A—HMEE Cash at 1 January 576,051 664,519
MR H 2 Effect of foreign exchanges rates
changes 46,428 5,022
RAR=Z+HBBE Cash at 30 June 10 556,311 947,250

Wik AEHOR ZF— U~ — ARG
5 B0 T T R IR A S A S SR 68
MRSy ik - A I A1) B R - M aE2 -

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated.

See note 2.

A0 SAF Z I FE M A P B ot 2 —
4o

The notes on pages 40 to 84 form part of this interim financial report.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B2 ZE—JUFEANH =1 H IS H For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(B4 B4R 7R AN LN B W31 R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1

40

— e TR B 2 R

SR MPEBARAF (TARAR ) R
F— WA AN HAER 2B S
WL R A RAF Him B =%
— A AN HERE S 55
AIRAT ([FHBH ) Lo

AR F R — FAEBER AT AR T R
A F (USRS [ ARG |) 122
55 MR B - W) SR B R

KRR MBS R LA 7] M 4 w8
BT ERAEPHRET . BARM (TA
R (BARFZ e EWARR) 2
51l

AL E P B IR, TR A A
5 5 B A R 2w i o TR 2 2 4
B S aARR T RE R HERIZ A
B A 2 B Pt e 5 345 T B
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H g e
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1

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated as an exempted Company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands on 26 April 2012 and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”)
with effect from 16 January 2013.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the property development, property leasing and

hotel operation.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the principal subsidiaries of the Company operate (same as the functional

currency of the Company).

This interim financial report of the Group has been prepared in
accordance with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, including compliance with International Accounting
Standard (IAS) 34, Interim financial reporting, issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). It was authorised for

issue on 28 August 2019.

The interim financial report has been prepared in accordance with
the same accounting policies adopted in the 2018 annual financial
statements, except for the accounting policy changes that are expected
to be reflected in the 2019 annual financial statements. Details of any

changes in accounting policies are set out in note 2.

The preparation of an interim financial report in conformity with IAS 34
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expenses on a period to date basis. Actual results

may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

This interim financial report contains consolidated financial statements
and selected explanatory notes. The notes include an explanation of
events and transactions that are significant to an understanding of
the changes in financial position and performance of the Group since
the 2018 annual financial statements. The condensed consolidated
interim financial statements and notes thereon do not include all of the
information required for a full set of financial statements prepared in

accordance with IFRSs.

The interim financial report is unaudited, but has been reviewed
by KPMG in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, Review of interim financial information performed
by the independent auditor of the entity, issued by the HKICPA.
KPMG's independent review report to the Board of Directors is included

on page 31 to 32.

The financial information relating to the financial year ended 31
December 2018 that is included in the interim financial report as
comparative information does not constitute the Company’s statutory
annual consolidated financial statements for that financial year but is
derived from those financial statements for the financial year ended 31
December 2018. The Company's auditor has reported on those financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. The auditor’s
report was unqualified and did not include a reference to any matters to
which the auditor drew attention by way of emphasis without qualifying

its report.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The IASB has issued a new IFRS, IFRS 16, Leases, and a number of
amendments to [FRSs that are first effective for the current accounting

period of the Group.

Except for IFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments have had a
material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented in this
interim financial report. The Group has not applied any new standard or

interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Interim Report 2019
20194 P 6
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BREE AR RSN LA R ¥ 51 7R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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2

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Concinued)

IFRS 16, Leases
IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17, Leases, and the related interpretations,

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
Interpretation 4, Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease,
Standing Interpretation Committee Interpretation 15, Operating leases
— incentives, and Standing Interpretation Committee Interpretation 27,
Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the legal form of a
lease. It introduces a single accounting model for lessees, which requires
a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases,
except for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-
term leases”) and leases of low value assets. The lessor accounting
requirements are brought forward from IAS 17 and remain substantially

unchanged.

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 as from 1 January 2019.
The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective approach and
has therefore recognised the cumulative effect of initial application
as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019.
Comparative information has not been restated and continues to be

reported under TAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous

accounting policies and the transition options applied are set out below:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(a)

Changes in the accounting policies

(1)

New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the
concept of control. IFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis of
whether a customer controls the use of an identified asset
for a period of time, which may be determined by a defined
amount of use. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in IFRS 16
only to contracts that were entered into or changed on or
after 1 January 2019. For contracts entered into before 1
January 2019, the Group has used the transitional practical
expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of which

existing arrangements are or contain leases.

Accordingly, contracts that were previously assessed as
leases under IAS 17 continue to be accounted for as leases
under IFRS 16 and contracts previously assessed as non-
lease service arrangements continue to be accounted for as

executory contracts.

Interim Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BRAF AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Concinued)

IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(a)

Changes in the accounting policies (Continued)

(i1)

Lessee accounting

IFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to classify
leases as either operating leases or finance leases, as was
previously required by IAS 17. Instead, the Group is
required to capitalise all leases when it is the lessee,
including leases previously classified as operating leases
under IAS 17, other than those short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. As far as the Group is concerned,
these newly capitalised leases are primarily in relation to

property, plant and equipment as disclosed in note 7(a).

Where the contract contains lease components and non-
lease components, the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a

single lease component for all leases.

When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. For the Group, low-
value assets are typically laptops or office furniture. The
lease payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic

basis over the lease term.



Bt BORES ()
IR St 2 S 10 BE R

(#)
(a)

B il BT (4)
(i) RN EFEH Ty %
(#)

EHECEAL HEAR
A $5 LS A5 L £ 3
{EL TR - S #e L B o BT 55
IR B > B % A1 AR
AR ) 7 > FUI AR R B
fE R ARG B - A4 3
1% > A AR B A
o TS B SR BR R
MR - HE R AR F
B A A 15 B A
Ry w] A AR Ft
SERH B AT RO L A 1Y st
BRI SR 25 P HTBR o

TA A A AL B e e )
FAHEE A e AR

He @@ Eamnwnne
#0 £ B4R H M8 A
PR AT T R 5k A AT
] BT A B 40 iy LA B

i 8 FH > 8 R E ) A
INVELAE R B RS BRAR B S
B iR B e P
7E T il 28 A B Al R A »

F LB ARG B A AT AT B
W R

2

foi 7 B 285 A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(a)

Changes in the accounting policies (Continued)

(11)

Lessee accounting (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are

incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives

received.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(a)  Changes in the accounting policies (Continued)

(i) Lessee accounting (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, except for

the following types of right-of-use asset:

= right-of-use assets that meet the definition of

investment properties are carried at fair value;

- right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold
land where the interest in the land is held as

inventory are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

(b)  Critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation

uncertainty in applying the above accounting policies

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the

right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying

amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(b)

Critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation
uncertainty in applying the above accounting policies
(Continued)

(1)

Classification of interest in leasehold land and buildings
held for own use

In accordance with IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment,
the Group chooses to apply either the cost model or the
revaluation model as its accounting policy for items of
property, plant and equipment held for own use on a
class-by-class basis. In applying this policy, the Group
has concluded that its registered ownership interests in
leasehold properties and the right to use other properties
leased under tenancy agreements are two separate groupings
of assets which differ significantly in their nature and use.
Accordingly, they are regarded by the Group as separate
classes of asset for subsequent measurement policies in

accordance with the above accounting policies.

In making this judgement, the Group has taken into
account that, as the registered owner of a leasehold
property, the Group is able to benefit fully from any
changes in the valuation of these properties whether as
holding gains or by selling the property interest to others,
as well as being able to use the properties in its operation
free of paying market rents. In contrast, the shorter term
tenancy agreements are typically for periods of 12 years
and are subject to other restrictions, in particular on
transferability of the Group’s tenancy rights to others.
These shorter term tenancy agreements are executed in
order to retain operational flexibility and to reduce the
Group’s exposure to the property market fluctuation.
They may contain termination or extension clauses, and/
or variable rental payment clauses linked to the level of
sales generated by the Group’s use of the premises, and are

typically subject to market rent reviews.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Concinued)

IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(b)

(©

Critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation

uncertainty in applying the above accounting policies
(Continued)

(i1)

Determining the lease term

As explained in the above accounting policies, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term. In determining
the lease term at the commencement date for leases
that include renewal options exercisable by the Group,
the Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the
renewal options taking into account all relevant facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive for the
Group to exercise the option, including favourable terms,
leasehold improvements undertaken and the importance
of that underlying asset to the Group’s operation. The
lease term is reassessed when there is a significant event
or significant change in circumstance that is within the
Group’s control. Any increase or decrease in the lease term
would affect the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use

assets recognised in future years.

Transitional impact
At the date of transition to IFRS 16 (i.e. 1 January 2019), the

Group determined the length of the remaining lease terms and

measured the lease liabilities for the leases previously classified

as operating leases at the present value of the remaining lease

payments, discounted using the relevant incremental borrowing

rates at 1 January 2019. The weighted average of the incremental

borrowing rates used for determination of the present value of the

remaining lease payments was 6.4%.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(c)

Transitional impact (Continued)

To ease the transition to IFRS 16, the Group applied the

following recognition exemption and practical expedients at the

date of initial application of IFRS 16:

)

(i)

(i11)

the Group elected not to apply the requirements of IFRS 16
in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets to leases for which the remaining lease term
ends within 12 months from the date of initial application
of IFRS 16, i.e. where the lease term ends on or before 31
December 2019;

when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of initial
application of IFRS 16, the Group applied a single
discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics (such as leases with a similar remaining lease
term for a similar class of underlying asset in a similar

economic environment); and

when measuring the right-of-use assets at the date of
initial application of IFRS 16, the Group relied on the
previous assessment for onerous contract provisions as
at 31 December 2018 as an alternative to performing an

impairment review.
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(c)

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
PR A R SR 16 IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)
BIEE (F) (c)  Transitional impact (Continued)
TREFNRM 160N R 2R = The following table reconciles the operating lease commitments
F— ) E+ - A=+—H2Z&EH as disclosed in note 16(b) as at 31 December 2018 to the opening
BERESR —F— U —H— AT balance for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019:
R HE A MG HiR-
~B U
—H—H
1 January 2019
ANRE T
RMB'000
RE-FE—=NEF+ZA=Z+T—HH Operating lease commitments at
T SRR 31 December 2018 497,150
B EB R E S A B R Less: Impact of value-added tax and
modification of a lease contract (115,066)
382,084
Tl : A2 R B BH S 4R Less: total future interest expenses (90,395)
e 3t A8 SR 26 47 B ) 5 1 B 3K0H Present value of remaining lease payments,

BEIR -F—-NF—-A—H
TR I AT B

discounted using the incremental borrowing
rate and total lease liabilities recognised at
1 January 2019 291,689

SR RAREHENHEE &
i | E R 6 H B
PREV B o HE 2 1 6t s AR B
Mol AR (5 e B
SR o HE RS 1 69%  H AR BRI
RIEFARYTBRID)

ALEMGATEE A RS
Bt ) BB R O T
M E A EAE AR S B IR IR
1 B SL 25 o

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
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The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously classified as
operating leases have been recognised at an amount as if IFRS 16
had always been applied since the commencement date of the lease
(other than discounting using the relevant incremental borrowing

rate at the date of initial application of IFRS 16).

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment properties in ‘other property, plant
and equipment and presents lease liabilities separately in the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(c)  Transitional impact (Continued)

The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption

of IFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial

position:

i
ZE N\
+=H
Z=t—HH
. T
Carrying
amount at
31 December
2018
AR
RMB 000

2R A 20 I B Line items in the consolidated

RSB 169E 5 B statement of financial position
HAMBMRIUEPIEE  impacted by the adoption of IFRS 16

BEYE Investment properties 5,708,069
HAebWr - W7 K Other property, plant and equipment 564,462
IR BT E Deferred tax assets 120,585
JE i Bh 4 Total non-current assets 7,436,255
HEARE (HH) Lease liabilities (current) =
SRR Current liabilities 5,798,251
B % A Net current assets 680,009
B AR Y £ Total assets less current liabilities 8,116,264
MEAMA (ERS) Lease liabilities (non-current) =
ElR=Rig sk Total non-current liabilities 3,507,960
W e HE Net assets 4,608,304

EARLEE
HEAH
Capitalisation
of operating
lease

contracts
AR¥T T
RMB 000

211,084
42,722
9,471
263,277
40,082
40,082
(40,082)
223,195
251,607

251,607

(28,412)

S
ZENE
—H—H

F e T
Carrying
amount at

1 January
2019

AR T
RMB 000

5,919,153
607,184
130,056

7,699,532

40,082

5,838,333
639,927

8,339,459
251,607

3,759,567

4,579,892

Interim Report 2019
20194 iy it 5]



i B s R B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 fulBORES ) 2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PR A R SR 16 IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(%)

(c) PIEHE (4F) (c)  Transitional impact (Continued)
TR R At I 2 1 R B The analysis of the net book value of the Group’s right-of-use
HUEQSB165EH B > A5 B A assets by class of underlying asset at the end of the reporting
7 I ) 4 (0 M R T period and at the date of transition to IFRS 16 is as follows:
BHEM I :

REZF—E  R-FE

AH=1H —H—H
At 30 June At 1 January
2019 2019
A RWT X ARHT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
A THREYE] Included in “Investment properties”:
BN HER R E Leasehold investment properties,
LS L/ carried at fair value 204,200 211,084
FHA T H A € - Included in “Other property,
ik J75 B A ] plant and equipment”:
AT AR FTE R Other properties leased for own use,
B ) H A 2 carried at depreciated cost 40,621 42,722
244,821 253,806

52 Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
Sy R I A PR A
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BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

frul BORSEH) ) 2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
PR AR R SR 16 IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)
(%)
d) HMEAE (d)  Lease liabilities
75 T 5 R ot O % [ The remaining contractual maturities of the Group's lease
TSRS SE 1655 H 2 & liabilities at the end of the reporting period and at the date of
BT AAMRMT transition to IFRS 16 are as follows:
REZZF-NEARZTH RZZF-NE—~H—H
At 30 June 2019 At 1 January 2019
RIEHE RIEHE RIEH S RIEHE
HHZBH HEAEH  HHZHME A
Present value of Total ~ Present value of Total
the minimum minimum the minimum minimum
lease payments  lease payments  lease payments  lease payments
NREFT AR FT ANREFT ARETFT
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000
— 4R Within 1 year 41,593 43,085 40,082 41456
— AR AR AE R After 1 year but within 2 years 40,186 44,91 38,990 51,062
W AR AR AR N After 2 years but within 5 years 118,066 147,252 114,611 142,978
HAER After 5 years 86,680 131,937 98,006 146,588
244,932 323,480 251,607 340,628
286,525 366,565 291,689 382,084
ol AR H) BB L ABEH  Less: total future interest
expenses (80,040) (90,399)
HEafzHE Present value of lease liabilities 286,525 291,689
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2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(e)

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited

G R o4 B A PR T

Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash
flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee is required
to recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance
of the lease liability, and the depreciation or fair value change of
the right-of-use asset, instead of the previous policy of recognising
rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. This does not result in a material impact
on the reported profit from operations in the Group's consolidated
statement of profit or loss, as compared to the results if IAS 17

had been applied during the period.

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a lessee is required
to split rentals paid under capitalised leases into their capital
element and interest element. These elements are classified as
financing cash outflows, similar to how leases previously classified
as finance leases under IAS 17 were treated, rather than as
operating cash outflows, as was the case for operating leases under
IAS 17. Although total cash flows are unaffected, the adoption of
IFRS 16 therefore results in a significant change in presentation of

cash flows within the cash flow statement.

The following tables may give an indication of the estimated
impact of adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group’s financial result,
segment results and cash flows for the six months ended 30
June 2019, by adjusting the amounts reported under IFRS 16 in
these interim financial statements to compute estimates of the
hypothetical amounts that would have been recognised under IAS
17 if this superseded standard had continued to apply to 2019
instead of IFRS 16, and by comparing these hypothetical amounts
for 2019 with the actual 2018 corresponding amounts which were

prepared under IAS 17.
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2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

RBEEmanZE (#)

IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash

flows of the Group (Continued)

BEANA=ZTHIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

“E0E “E-0\E
2019 2018
Mk BRRE b AR
BN RRETEN O WRERE  ARERE
BIGHE A Ho iRl aiHEll
RRREME  WE AFE  REBHE  FowRE BoRESRR
BRI 165 2EM WEMHE  SFUE ZFAR
R MEBER £®(WE)  MEXEH EHILE
Deduct:
Add back: Estimated
IFRS 16 amounts
depreciation, related to Compared
Amounts fair value operating  Hypothetical to amounts
reported change and leaseasif ~ amounts for  reported for
under interest under 2019 as if 2018 under
IFRS 16 expense  IAS 17 (note 1)  under IAS 17 [AS 17
(4) (B) © (D=A+B+C)
ARWTE  ARETFZ  ARWTT  ARBFZ  ARETX
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000
R e e Financial result for the six months
FloHEs ended 30 June 2019 impacted
ZE-WERHZTH by the adoption of IFRS 16:
LM A R 7
REEENTE:
Fit gl Profit from operations 308,518 16,017 (21,020) 323,515 478,229
AR Finance costs (74,067) 9,040 - (65,027) (86,339)
B Bt i Profit before taxation 372,460 25,057 (21,020) 376,497 491,918
B9 /5 P A Profit for the period/year 230,745 25,057 (21,020) 235,782 247,850
R e Reportable segment profit for
FieRERz the six months ended
ZEMEAAZTH 30 June 2019 (note 3(b)
EARAT 28 impacted by the adoption of
AHEANEE IFRS 16:
(HiE30)) :
R Eil ~ Properies leasing 48,668 21472 (18,410) 51,730
-WEEE - Hotel operation 4409 3,585 (2,610) 5,384
L Total 53,077 25,057 (21,020) 57,114
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2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash

flows of the Group (Continued)

REARZHHLEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

3R -
2019 2018
P L
LR ] sk SRR B
WERE  Bo  EREHE G
R RARHE  BuMEH  BURESRY
RGN AR A A “EE “FNE
Efiaw (Ffik1%2) LFEER SRR
Estimated
amounts
related to Hypothetical Compared
Amounts operating amounts for to amounts
reported lease as if 2019 as if reported for
under under IAS 17 under 2018 under
IFRS 16 (note 1 & 2) IAS 17 IAS 17
(A) (B) (C=A+B)
ARE TR ANR# T ANRETE ANRFT T
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000
Line items in the condensed
consolidated cash flow
statement for the six months
ended 30 June 2019 impacted
by the adoption of IFRS 16:
Cash used in operations (82,201) (21,020) (103,221) (983,513)
Net cash used in
operating activities (108,969) (21,020) (129,989) (803,959)
Capital element of lease rentals paid (11,980) 11,980 = -
Inerest element of lease rentals paid (9,040) 9,040 = =
Net cash generated from
financing activities 617,670 21,020 638,690 1,227,388
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019

(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(e)  Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash

flows of the Group (Continued)

Note 1:  The “estimated amounts related to operating leases” is an estimate
of the amounts of the cash flows in 2019 that relate to leases
which would have been classified as operating leases, if IAS 17 had
still applied in 2019. This estimate assumes that there were no
difference between rentals and cash flows and that all of the new
leases entered into in 2019 would have been classified as operating
leases under IAS 17, if IAS 17 had still applied in 2019. Any

potential net tax effect is ignored.

Note 2:  In this impact table these cash outflows are reclassified from
financing to operating in order to compute hypothetical amounts
of net cash generated from operating activities and net cash used in

financing activities as if IAS 17 still applied.

3  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

The principal activities of the Group are property development, property
leasing and hotel operation. In a manner consistent with the way in
which information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has identified three operating and

reportable segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BRAF AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

3 W B B ) 3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
@ W (a) Disaggregation of revenue
BB & F i 30y % o Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
% F & A AR business lines and geographical location of customers is as follows:

BEAA=ZTHIEAMEA

Six months ended 30 June

“RAE AR
2019 2018
A BRW T AR #T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
75 7€ bR 4% Properties development 422,191 724,153
MEME Property leasing 109,035 99,693
T Hotel operation 29,964 23,739
e 2 48 Total revenue 561,190 847,585
1R P A B IR Disaggregated by geographical location of
customers
G NS Mainland China 548,433 835,858
s Hong Kong 12,757 11,727
561,190 847,585
R AR R M R 2 R P A A Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the
W g 7 A 5 3 by 5 o timing of revenue recognition is disclosed in note 3(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

3  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
FHBRULREEMAGYE (b) Information about profit or loss, assets and liabilities
R R H R 2 B F A # Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
Wieds > Dh BRI o3 e B 43 timing of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding
B AR T 42 A4t A 4R B e AT the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s
BB BN B A R A 4R 1 ] e most senior executive management for the purposes of resource
TREERIFIHANT R E allocation and assessment of segment performance for the period
K AR R R T E is set out below. No segment assets and liabilities are presented as
PR B R ER A e S R BURTA > they were not regularly provided to the chief operating decision
AR50 B o B S A maker for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
i Wl 8¢ LBl il it
Property development Property leasing Hotel operation Total
BEAMAL SENE ZER-NE ZEORE ZFRME ZEE ZFE ZRE ZE0R
For the six months ended 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
(&) (FfE) (H3E) (k)
(Note) (Note) (Note) (Note)
ABWTE ARBETT ARBFZ ARETT AREFE ARKTL ARNKFT ARKFr
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000
HHEAMEFM A Disaggregated by timing
of revenue recognition
G Point in time 422,191 124,153 109,035 99,693 - - 531,226 823,846
HikE Over time - - - 29,964 23,739 29,964 23739
CEX: Vs & Reportable segment revenue 422,191 724,153 109,035 99,693 29,964 2,739 561,190 847,585
2R Reportable segment profit 129,209 309,386 48,668 34,756 4409 3,120 182,286 347,262

MsE: AEBCR _F—E—A—
FI R 468 4 3T 3 30k o R HE
I B 5 0 5 SR UV 55 1 6 95% - AR
U 2 N A T ) LG R e B
B &E2 o

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative

information is not restated. See note 2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BRAF AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

3 WA B i ) 3  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
© W EHRSHIHEREZHIE (c) Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or loss

BWEANA=ZTHIEAMEA

Six months ended 30 June

ZE N —F— )\

2019 2018
(Ht7t)
(Note)
AR T ANR¥ T
RMB’000 RMB'000
CIE=S &3k Reportable segment profit 182,286 347,262
BEMENFHES Changes in fair value of investment
properties 155,114 180,024
HAbUA ~ BASZ - U %5 S Other income, expense, gains and losses 8,539 (21,142)
o T A B N R B 52 Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses (17,421) (27,915)
il A Finance costs (74,067) (86,335)
A3 A5 W A 7Y ks Share of profits of associates 109,809 3,628
OGBS 2 ) A Share of profits of joint ventures 8,200 96,396
456 bR B AT I A Consolidated profit before taxation 372,460 491,918
Bk : AEECR -F—NLFE—H— Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
H i F A8 05 5T 28 0% 1 Ok modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
] % 5 5 8 5 1 695 o AR BB information is not restated. See note 2.
W i M LR R e R
WisE2 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019

(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

IR B i ¥t ) 4 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
BRBERTG R 5 40BR 7 (REA) FHI& TR Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(G

BEANA=ZTHIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

ZEF A —E— )\

2019 2018
(Hit)
(Note)
A BRWT X ARWT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
(@ WE A (a)  Finance costs
|ATH A B Interest on bank loans 58,904 41,203
A EF R Interest on lease liabilities 9,040 -
3t Tl Interest on senior notes 150,361 130,393
&5 H R Interest on bonds = 769
W B AL F B Less: Interest expense capitalised
CEL/E T :kigs into properties under development
d-C/EL RN 53 for sale and investment properties
under development (144,238) (86,030)
TRl A Total finance costs 74,067 86,335
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BREE AR RSN LA R ¥ 51 7R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

4 BRBLERRA ) 4 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

BEAA=ZTHIEAMEA

Six months ended 30 June

ZEhE —E— )\
2019 2018
(HiE)
(Note)
ARWT X ANRBT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
by  HAbWeA B~ Mg (b)  Other income, expense, gains and
B4R losses
Ji B B B e A Dividend and interest income 18,095 25,408
HUR A Bl Government grant 419 1,048
REZIEHLZ Compensation income from early
H YA termination of leasing contract 2,233 746
A1 T 5, s 18 VF AR Net foreign exchange losses (12,397) (44,221)
HAFERF AR Z Changes in fair value of financial
EMEENTHEHED assets at FVTPL 20,284 (3,785)
HEWE - BB & Gain on disposal of property,
AR I plant and equipment - 49
A FEF AR Gain on disposal of financial assets
Z A E AR at FVTPL 3,548 -
I i B e S 08 2 i 1 Loss from repurchases of
senior notes (18,109) -
1A Donation (10,000) =
HAth Others 4,466 (387)
At Total 8,539 (21,142)
(© A (c)  Other items
B ERA Cost of properties sold 261,913 384,649
4 A A Cost of rental income 9,688 25,395
ENY NG R Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 9,775 7,441
A% E EH TR Impairment loss recognised in
ZWEREE respect of investments in
debt instruments 1,360 5,655

Wik : AEBMOR-F—UE——H R
G RT W0 U T R R
QN 165% - RAELLTT > WAL S 1L
BE R RKEE2 -

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not

restated. See note 2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019

(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

Pi 3 B 5 INCOME TAX
BEAA=ZTHIEAMEA
Six months ended 30 June
SR —F— )\
2019 2018
YN ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB 000
B A 0 T — 7 s R A5 Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax 875 79
B A 7 — v 2 N R LAY Current tax — People’s Republic of
(T ) S 2ERT SR China (“PRC”) corporate
([ ABRL) income tax (“CIT”) 28,639 81,294
BP0 0 — - (B Current tax — Land appreciation
(L HbgER ) tax (“LAT") 32,806 117,372
I JE B I Deferred taxation 77,395 45,323
139,715 244,068
R A7 LA T I 07 B 2 T I 30 i i 2 No provision for taxation has been recognised for companies
B 5 gE A BT 2 A R I ZE AN AT T B incorporated in the Cayman Island and the British Virgin Islands as they
JE > WIS R 5% 55 ) e SR AT o B T are not subject to any tax during both periods.
o
BWEZE-NFEARH=ZTHIEAMEA The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated by applying the
B RS B 75 IR P AG G AF B estimated annual effective tax rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) to the six
FBl&R165% (=% — \F:1165% ) 7t 5 o months ended 30 June 2019. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
WRIEFIS B M AR H o & G EEmFEG regime, the first Hong Kong Dollars (“HKS$") 2 million of profits of
128,259 2 Bl ikl F 2 A ST ([ the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
JC 1) BUANBLIE > W 9451659 2 B 2 SR HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
2 s oo B A2 B - RFF A FITG qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
TR0 T A0 Tt e 2 i A A taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

F1216.59% P45 — Bl 2RI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BREE AR RSN LA R ¥ 51 7R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

i 388 (45) 5

B A S P ABEBA ) LU AL
F S JB 2~ ) 1 AR B A 3 BT A B0 R R
18 A BB Y 1% IR o B A B BB AR R
B W R E

5

64

- H B (BT R (A P30% 2
60% ) SR A4 - B (B 38

BT

5K IE I 2 AT A0S ) (LA AR

F - 3l FFYREE B A i~ - o % BT
T RRE R A 8
HET TR SR 10 8 1 B W It
P RE AL I LA B S A A ) LA T 0
WIEE ) o Br LAt Anisish 5 iR B 8
IR BRSNS A Wl o )
TR FIT (SR IR B - 3 B 0 M T A
PRl Bt A 19209

5B B A 6

(a)

(b)

TR ARBA)
AR B A TR A A FIHE S
S SR A 365 A1) N & H232,745,0007

(BZE=F—/UEAA=FHIER

i A+ AR #247,850,00000) K #£
o 0 D L AT ) I RT3
J%1,802,456,0008 513 (ZF— N\
4F11,802,456,000%)

5 JBL 9 R

T T 1 25 30 D A 2 o R AT
1o P HE 2 A (8 1 A A 13 2
PTAE - WO A S A R
Sl B R AT B AR 2 W] o R AT 2
TR o K11 > 0 09 T 2 PR
TR LM L A it R AR -

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
B R Mo I AT PR A W

INCOME TAX (Continued)

The provision for PRC income tax is based on the respective corporate
income tax rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in the PRC
as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and

regulations of the PRC.

The LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of properties
less deductible expenditures including payments made for acquisition of
land use rights, costs and expenses for the development of the land or for
construction of new buildings and supporting facilities, or the assessed
value for old buildings and structures, tax payable relating to transfer of
the real estate and other deductible items prescribed by the Ministry of
Finance. Apart from the aforementioned deductions, property developers
enjoy an additional deduction, which is equal to 20% of the payment
made for acquisition of land use rights and the costs of land development

and construction of new buildings or related facilities.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of RMB232,745,000 (six months ended 30 June 2018:
RMB247,850,000) and the weighted average of 1,802,456,000
ordinary shares (2018: 1,802,456,000 shares) in issue during the

interim period.

(b) Diluted earnings per share

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options because
the exercise price of those options was higher than the average
market price for shares for both reporting periods. Accordingly,
the diluted earnings per share was same as the basic earnings per

share for both periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

7  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a)

(b)

()

Right-of-use assets

As discussed in note 2, the Group has initially applied IFRS 16
using the modified retrospective method and adjusted the opening
balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets
relating to leases which were previously classified as operating
leases under IAS 17. Further details on the net book value of the
Group’s right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset are set out

in note 2.

Acquisitions and disposals of owned assets

During the six months ended 30 June 2019, the Group acquired
items of plant and machinery with a cost of RMB25,481,000 (six
months ended 30 June 2018: RMB3,575,000). Items of plant and
machinery with a net book value of RMB nil were disposed of
during the six months ended 30 June 2019 (six months ended 30
June 2018: RMB5,000), resulting in a gain on disposal of RMB
nil (six months ended 30 June 2018: RMB49,000).

Valuation

The valuations of investment properties and land and buildings
held for rental income carried at fair value were updated at 30
June 2019 by the Group’s independent valuer using the same
valuation techniques as were used by this valuer when carrying

out the December 2018 valuations.

As a result of the update, a net gain of RMB155,114,000
(2018: RMB180,024,000), and the deferred tax thereon of
RMB38,778,000 (2018: RMB45,006,000), have been recognised

in profit or loss for the period in respect of investment properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BRAF AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

8 b 8 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
NoE—RE N FE—UE
AA=Z+H +-A=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December

2019 2018
AR ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB'000

G Financial assets
WA THEFABSEF EMSMERE  Financial assets measured at FVTPL

—FHEEE — Held-for-trading 4,339 86,189

— 3 b AR S5 — Unlisted equity securities 192,111 173,002
e N TAE R A H At 2 T 0 2R Financial assets measured at FVTOCI

AR M EE 8,551 9,911
AEt Total 205,001 269,102
WM EET 25N Less: Amounts due within one year shown

o
1 2R under current assets (4,339) (86,189)
B EE T 251 RIE Amounts shown under non-current assets 200,662 182,913
9 BB B Ik HE Mok 9  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

E o RN IE LB AR E Y RN ST Trade receivables mainly comprises certain consideration for sale of
ISPV EEREEid ¢/ EN Tk ESL) properties and rental receivable in respect of self-owned investment
WO 45 o 8 4 3 2 BRI AH B properties and sub-leased properties. Consideration in respect of sale of
B i e - Fl 4 — i g vE S - properties is receivable in accordance with the terms of related sale and
JREMSCRF <58 % 17430 H A B I REA o SR » purchase agreements. Rentals are usually received in advance. Rental
AL RS TR TH receivables are normally due within 30 days. However, longer credit
RIEEM- periods might grant to certain customers on a discretions basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade

receivables net of allowance for credit losses presented based on the date

of delivery of properties/date of rendering of services, is as follows:

REF-NE RFE—-NE

AH=Z+H +ZA=Z+—H

At 30 June At 31 December

2019 2018

AR F AR ¥FT

RMB’000 RMB’000

30RDIA Within 30 days 79,566 90,220
31 860K 31 to 60 days 1,295 1,739
61E180°K 61 to 180 days 1,412 575
B oy RESCEIE > H1 B3 s 48 43 e Trade receivables, net of loss allowance 82,273 92,534

JRE i BB ) R A A SE KA Amount due from associates and joint

ventures 42,465 15,106

HAiEH Other debtors 256,640 106,751
RNy kL] Less: Allowance for credit losses (27,714) (27,714)
2 B AN T O 4 T Financial assets measured at amortised cost 353,664 186,677
AT R AL T 0 R Advances to contractors 6,884 21,404
TR -t 18 (BB R A5 LAT and income tax prepaid 29,786 18,405
FoAt 7 A B I Other taxes prepaid 77,073 41,294
467,407 267,780
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BRAF AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

10 B& 10 CASH
REF—NE R oF—N\EF
ARZ+H +ZA=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December
2019 2018
AR ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB 000
FHB & Cash in hand 1,636 1,277
|ITH & Cash at bank 554,675 574,774
Awt Total 556,311 576,051
11 S5 B Jo b KAk 11 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
BEHE IR B 5 B RIE KB R As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
15 (AR5 S FoMh e 3R0H ) AR 52 creditors and bills payables (which are included in trade and other
H IR RS A payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:
REF—E  RoF—/N\F
AR=Z+H +ZHA=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December
2019 2018
ARW T ANR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
60K AN Within 60 days 521,375 385,175
612180k 61 to 180 days 9,016 362
1818365k 181 to 365 days 4,555 1,448
14ERL | Over 1 year 12,612 98,030
B A5F M K I JRE A°F 52 4% AL A Total creditors and bills payable 547,558 485,015
At 1B A5 B K R Other creditors and accrued charges 354,194 341,173
TR & 8 A 3 S g A R §0R Amounts due to joint ventures and
associates 392,255 311,905
2 480 89 PR S R 1 4 AR Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost 1,294,007 1,138,093
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019

(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

12 BANK LOANS
REF-NE R oF—N\EF
ARSTE +oA= R
At 30 June At 31 December

2019 2018

ARWTI A R FTFor

RMB 000 RMB'000

EiE Ll Secured 3,226,901 2,410,976
4 JE 4 Unsecured 74,775 118,287
Mz Total 3,301,676 2,529,263

REF—NE RZF-N\F
AH=+H +-A=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December

2019 2018
A RWT X AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AE R IR B 2 AR IR (E ©  Carrying amount repayable based on
repayment terms:
B AN R T PN — Within 1 year or on demand 1,798,579 1,569,118
— VEB R 24E N — After 1 year but within 2 years 466,501 89,463
2B ERSER — After 2 years but within 5 years 1,036,596 870,682
3,301,676 2,529,263
5 B E) B — A Less: Amounts due within one year shown
B39 B0 under current liabilities (1,798,579) (1,569,118)
51| 5y 95 i By B AR 1Y OH Amounts shown under non-current
liabilities 1,503,097 960,145
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BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BREE AR RSN LA R ¥ 51 7R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

12

13

10

AT ()

AR IR AR B LA T AT
TRITE AR AATRIE 2 R

12 BANK LOANS (Continued)

At the end of respective reporting periods, the following assets were

pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:

REF—E  R-F—N\E
AR=Z+H +ZHA=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December
2019 2018
AN BT ANRBTTT
RMB’000 RMB 000
T M Land and buildings 403,428 400,415
S <C/ES Investment properties 3,897,000 4,015,769
YA E A Y <y Financial assets at FVTPL 192,111 173,002
B % o i B W) 3 Properties under development for sale 3,720,439 1,736,391
Bk LiEYE Completed properties for sale - 123,719
3 PR SR AT A7 5K Restricted bank deposits 196,500 186,500
Awt Total 8,409,478 6,635,796
B SRR 13 SENIOR NOTES
REF—E  RoF—/N\F
AR=Z+H +ZHA=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December
2019 2018
AN BT ANR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
n—H—H As at 1 January 3,396,539 1,961,602
WA/ AF N AT BT A5 3 R R Net proceeds from issuing during the
period/year 941,238 1,258,455
B R Interest for the period/year 150,361 264,661
BN EREA A FLR Interest paid/payable for the period/year (103,288) (211,555)
B3R, T R G Exchange loss for the period/year 9,637 203,108
i3 [E/EE In] 5 2 2L 4 Senior notes repurchase/redemption (936,637) (79,732)
RS H B As at reporting date 3,457,850 3,396,539

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited

G R o4 B A PR T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019

(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

13 SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

=t S i
ARS+HR +oA=t-R

30 June 31 December

2019 2018

ANRWT T ANB#T T

RMB’000 RMB 000

14 4 1 72 Repayable within 1 year 1,040,279 1,972,944
VAR AR S 4F 19 B 7 Repayable after 1 year but within 5 years 2,346,356 1,353,795
L 3,386,635 3,326,739

RoF—ANEF—H=ZH0 AR A%
{E 317 4% & 41%100,000,0003 JC ) 48 5
SR (MBI maR ) - 55 Itk
SR LA TUEHE SR NS
Jir A PR A ) Tl o 5 DU ik AR S SRR 2
T 4F | 3R 259% T B » A3 AT Br 3
B 7P [ I A R R — LA
T H = H B ST U e R
BEMBABEEME RAHYEE
HEME S RE—BAR HiR- N %
— \AF > B2 AT 4 7 (e R > DA kg
VR B 4 ] 4 A £912,000,00095 70
(R 1 %9 N R H682,723,00000 ) 2 1B S 52
5o W JUAE AR LA IR TR
BB 4 195 4 8 88,000,000 7T 2 HEAE

W E—LENA R H > AN R
ORI RE 5558 5 A R ) 884 T
& A8E200,000,0005 TCHI SR AR S 08
BOME LR ([ IR e g ash
PR1) o SRR S AR R R
EAAREHN101.237% - HIURE 20
B PRI b M B IO 4 S B
TR o 565 V0 4t 08 S SR PR RE A SRR 0 R G
HRAANT AL T —LENA+—
B AR - R ZF— L AN AR
G R E B IR &R 5551,500,000%
T B

On 3 November 2016, the Company issued at par senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$100,000,000 (the “Fourth Senior
Notes”). The Fourth Senior Notes are US$ denominated and listed
on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The Fourth Senior Notes carry
interest at a nominal rate of 8.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in
arrears, and will mature on 3 November 2019, unless earlier redeemed
or repurchased. The purpose of the Fourth Senior Notes is to refinance
existing indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for
general corporate purposes. During 2018, the Company exercised the
early redemption option to redeem US$12,000,000 (approximately
equivalent to RMB82,723,000) of the senior notes out of cash from
internal resources respectively. During 2019, the Company repaid

US$88,000,000 of the senior notes out of cash from internal resources.

On 25 April 2017, the Company further issued additional senior
notes of the Fourth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount
of US$200,000,000 (the “Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior
Notes”) listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The offering price
of the Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior Notes was 101.237%
of the principal amount. The other terms of the Additional Notes of
the Fourth Senior Notes are same to the Fourth Senior Notes. Details
of the Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior Notes are set out in the
Company's announcement dated 11 April 2017. During 2019, the
Company repaid US$51,500,000 of the Senior Notes out of cash from

internal resources.

Interim Report 2019
20194 Al it 6 7]



T 3 D 5 A PR R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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13 RS 13

14

12

R=F

—NE—A+—H ARAEHE

(45475 4 5855200,000,000 3 TT ) (8 22

1 (R BEERE])

L Bikin it

PELATETTRHE W B n a8 5 8 5
AIRAT FT o5 A A e e
R K705t B B4 AL BRIE R

i ] g ]

SRS — % 4 — A

TR B AT BRI E T
REAEGHRME AR ER
MaEe R~ BAF -

REF-NE=ZALH  ARAIE—H

TN B 55 2 o BT A B w4

TAE

B 6l F T LR B e R AR S
SR (SRR BE RO R]) -

5 BB R AR N AR g
BHN89.024% © 4
5 1 H At ¢ 25k

R
o 1At B e S
5 A R S AR o

5 T B S B AR AN SR N R I A A
AR HMA -F - _A - THHK

BER-

JBe A ~ il i B JBe 8 14

(a)

B;’EZIK

—JUEAAZTH BT

\#?

T #8072 e B E £51,802,456,000¢
e A By N R #113,099,0007% © 74
BE_FZ—NFANH=THIEM
) TR K E AT A A5 )

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
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SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 11 January 2018, the Company issued at par senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the “Fifth Senior
Notes”). The Fifth Senior Notes are US$ denominated and listed
on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The Fifth Senior Notes carry
interest at a nominal rate of 7% per annum, payable semi-annually in
arrears, and will mature on 18 January 2021, unless earlier redeemed
or repurchased. The purpose of the Fifth Senior Notes is to refinance
existing indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for general

corporate purposes.

On 5 March 2019, the Company further issued additional senior
notes of the Fifth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount
of US$160,000,000 (the “Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior
Notes”) listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The offering price
of the Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes was 89.024% of
the principal amount. The other terms of the Additional Notes of the
Fifth Senior Notes are same to the Fifth Senior Notes. Details of the
Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes are set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 25 February 2019.

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a) Share capital
The number of issued and fully paid shares is 1,802,456,000 and
the share capital is RMB113,099,000 at 30 June 2019. There is
no movement of authorised and issued capital during the period
ended 30 June 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019

(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 JBeA~ Gl B e 8 (42) 14 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continucd)
b BE (b) Dividends
Q) PR R R (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders attributable
BB to the interim period

ZE N —F— )\

2019 2018
ARWT X ANRBTT
RMB’000 RMB 000
J % © B IR SLUR A Incerim dividend declared and

F B & T paid after the interim period is nil

(ZF— )\ (2018: RMBO0.014 per share)

B BB A B ¥0.0147T) - 25,070
o RS 1 R A T K The interim dividend has not been recognised as a liability
AL at the end of the reporting period.

(i) HRH C AR IR L (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders attributable
— 1l B B AE £ P s IR to the previous financial year, approved and paid
KRB during the interim period

BEANA=ZTHIEAMA

Six months ended 30 June

ZE N —F— )\

2019 2018
A BT AR #T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
JATS — 18 oh 5 01 ] © #Ht e
BCIRAS b —fI B BUAF Final dividend in respect of the
AR B previous financial year, approved and
J&4730.019% 70 paid during the following interim
(& 7 AR ¥0.01778) period, of HK$0.019 (equivalent to
(BZE -F— /)\4F RMBO0.017) per share (six months
ANHETHIEAMA : ended 30 June 2018: RMB0.028
B N ¥0.0287C)  per share) 30,120 50,469
R ETIRIEC BT The calculation of dividend per share is based on
1,802,456,000/f%¢ & 4 it 51 1,802,456,000 ordinary shares in issue.
-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BREE AR RSN LA R ¥ 51 7R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 JBeAS S il BB B, ()

74

(©)

VA B AR 55 SR DA L A9 2 B B 1Y
5

WBEAANRR -Z—-Z4F+2H
+ H A E Y S AR T (% gt
wHE L) o AR F A R A B RO
1005 70 AR ) 4 ) AT Ao
WP 2 ) B A R AR T
AT B ST FF AT AT A
8 B (a2 M) iEF 2
REm 52 5 B 2 B0 Ry A SE [ 1
HEBMEMEMAL (52
B |) $2 0 IO > LARRIE AN ]
Pty £ H 2 B 2 B - T
iRt B —F——F+ A+
B R

T AR B8 A ) B R S AL HE 1 15
DT - AR ST 8 mT R 1Y
i P RE V5 T P PR A7 S > AN
AN A FRBEE L B BB AT
HAHRLI10% © TE R LA AR
FRMMENTEIT » R —FR
£ 48 S 7T R 1] A o] (R 7\ 4% 18
) A RE T T 88 4T Bt T8 AT
MR E » AR AL /M
ol I B B B AT S A A 19 T
BT O e S K £y
AR ) A 190,190 % 5 (B A S T
S T B B PRORE B R AR AR A
) JB SR S S

FIEEREFRE T > WAL T
B AN RSB A
97 A W W 20 T 4 H S R BT il
AT 5 G B B A A
BEA S RNFEERAEFT B
Jir i H R R Rk -2 i 5
T iy 7 i 3 4 P A TG

14 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(0)

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
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Equity settled share-based transactions

Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme approved on 10
December 2012 (the “Share Option Scheme”), the Company
has the right to grant options to any executive, non-executive
or independent non-executive directors or any employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries or associated companies or any other person whom
the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has contributed
or will contribute to the Group (“Participants”) to subscribe for
shares in the Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each
lot of share options granted for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to the Participants. The Share Option Scheme will
remain effective for a period of ten years commencing from 10

December 2012.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the
date of approval of the limit, without prior approval from the
Company's shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director in excess of 0.1% the Company's share capital
or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in

advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the ordinary shares
of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing
price of the ordinary shares of the Company as stated in the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of ordinary shares of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(0)

Equity settled share-based transactions (Continued)

On 23 July 2014, the Company granted 8,700,000 share options
(the “2014 Options”) to certain key management personnel and
employees with certain performance target determined by the

Directors as follows:

If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding
to the period when a tranche of the 2014 Options becomes vested
(the “Vested Tranche”) is RMB200 million or more, the portion

of the Vested Tranche will be completely exercisable.

If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding
to the period when the Vested Tranche is more than zero but less
than RMB200 million, the portion of the Vested Tranche will not
be exercisable, and will be automatically deferred to the next year
of vesting period and so forth until the audited net profit meets
the required RMB200 million.

If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding
to the period when the Vested Tranche is negative (i.e. audited
net loss), the portion of the Vested Tranche will be cancelled

immediately.

At 30 June 2019 and 31 December 2018, the number of shares
in respect of which options under the Share Option Scheme had
been granted and remained outstanding was 8,700,000 shares,
representing 0.48% of the total shares of the Company in issue at

that date.

During the six months ended 30 June 2019 and the six months
ended 30 June 2018, no share options were granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed by the Company under the Share Option

Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BRAF AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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14 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(0)

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
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Equity settled share-based transactions (Continued)

The fair value of the 2014 Options was determined at the date
of grant using, among others, the Black-Scholes-Merton Option
Pricing Model based on the respective vesting periods of the
share options in accordance with the variables and assumptions
based on the Directors’ best estimate upon the grant date. The
total estimated fair value of the share options granted on the
grant date was HK$2,032,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,603,000). During the current period, the Company
recognised share option expenses of RMB114,000 (six months
ended 30 June 2018: RMB114,000) in relation to share options
granted by the Company.

No options were exercised during the six months ended 30 June
2019 (2018: nil).
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

i B B S R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(1)  Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s

financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting

period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-

level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair

value measurement. The level into which a fair value

measurement is classified is determined with reference to

the observability and significance of the inputs used in the

valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only

Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in

active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the

measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2

inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level

1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.

Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BRAF AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 BT H2ZAVEG= ) 15 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
@ DAAPERHRZ &HEER (a)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

ﬁ % (#5) (Continued)
(1) WS () (1)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
QI Sy 2
AAZTH REZ-EAAZTAZ
2T AN FHFRE R
Fair value
at 30 June Fair value measurements as at
2019 30 June 2019 categorised into
B BH B=H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARWTE  ARWTZ  ARWTEZ  ARKTE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
B AT Recurring fair value measurement
EMEE: Financial assets:
bR AR Listed equity securities 4,339 4,339 = =
ETH 2% Listed bonds 8,551 8,551 = =
SRR SR AT 17 3K Structured bank deposits 42,000 = 42,000 =
MR A B Unquoted equity investments 192,111 - - 192,111
Qe Se¥iN:2
+=A
=+—H MZF—=NFFZA=Z1—HZ
ZTE AVER R
Fair value
at 31 December Fair value measurements as at
2018 31 December 2018 categorised into
B HH =5
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARBTE  ARBTL ANRBTL  ARETIL
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000
BEEZATERE Recurring fair value measurement
BMEE: Financial assets:
He Funds 83,070 83,070 - -
T A Listed equity securities 3,119 3,119 - -
tiEE Listed bonds 9911 9,911 -
AR RITHER Structured bank deposits 146,000 - 146,000 -
SR E AR E Unquoted equity investments 173,002 - - 173,002

18
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(Continued)

(1)

(i1)

(if1)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the six months ended 30 June 2019, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into
or out of Level 3 (2018: nil). The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as

at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of structured bank deposits in Level 2 is
determined by discounting cash flow at a discount rate that
reflects the expected future economic benefits at the end of

the reporting period.
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of unquoted equity investments is
determined using market approach which is a valuation
technique that uses prices and other relevant information

obtained from market transactions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BRAF AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 @ TRZAPHEH R ) 15 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
@ DAFEFIREZ SREE R (a) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

ﬁ % (#5) (Continued)

(iii) HHFE=FA T2 (iii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
BH(E) (Continued)
B FER AR The movement during the period in the balance of Level 3
A E R fair value measurements is as follows:

REF—NE R-F—N\E
ARZHA +ZA=+-H
At 30 June At 31 December

2019 2018
A BT AR T
RMB’000 RMB 000
TR AR Unquoted equity investments:
w—H—H At 1 January 173,002 157,400
ST A0 P 4R 4 R R Y Net unrealised gains or losses recognised
8 g
R 5 Bl 48 B 4R 1 in profit or loss during the period 19,109 13,265
WAHA=1TH At 30 June 192,111 170,665
RRE R A NE R Total gains or losses for the period
g p
F1AHE g 1 B A R included in profit or loss for assets
i 1 AR held at the end of the
reporting period 19,109 13,265
A B AR SR H Y Any gains or losses arising from the remeasurement of the
(B A A T B Group's unquoted equity investments held for strategic
FE AR A i A SRR R purposes are recognised in the profit or loss.
-

80 Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019

(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 4 THZ AP ) 15 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) WEIEIRATVES IR &R (b)  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at
KA EN A FE other than fair value
WoZE—-NFE+_HA=+—HK The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments carried
“E-NEARZTH AEEE at cost or amortised cost were not materially different from their
JIAS B B R A B R A 4 A fair values as at 31 December 2018 and 30 June 2019 except
F1 R T B - (1 o 06 7 K % for the following financial instruments, for which their carrying
R MY G TR B IR amounts and fair value are disclosed below:
T {EL B AP (R
R ZF—JuE =R — N
AR=Z1H TZH=+—0
At 30 June 2019 At 31 December 2018
R i AFE R T nFH
Carrying Carrying
amount  Fair value amount Fair value

ANRWFT ARBTFLT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

(Lo Senior notes
(BLHE REAT RIS (including interest payable) 3,457,850 3,366,251 3,396,539 3,349,242
16 7&¥E 16 COMMITMENTS
@ RIZF-IUESA=ZTHH (a) Capital commitments outstanding at 30 June 2019 not
ARBAT HLE A 7 v 300 B 5 ¥k provided for in the interim financial report
5 B R AR
REF—E RF—/N\F
AH=Z+H +ZA=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December
2019 2018
ARW¥Fx ANBRHT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
24 Contracted for 1,773,642 415,839
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BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BRAF AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

16 7R¥E (@)

(b)

82

REF-NFE+ZHA=Z+—
F > WA A 4 el A AL
FEAH A H AR S (A B sk A
T

14E N
VEFZHESER
SAEAR

16 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease
payments under noncancellable operating leases were
payable as follows:

/ES
Properties
ARET T
RMB’000

Within 1 year 54,438
After 1 year but with 5 years 239,519
After 5 years 203,193

497,150

A S T R S T AR I R R e
RIS 17SE  E E E Y
KFFA B2 (0 Z B H LR -
74 S 1 B O T I B o
RIS 165 R R AERTIB 13 - RER
BT > AR —F I
—H—HE IS LI A B
A EZ B AR (M) -
H-F—UE—H— B RAKHE
BT AR G2 BT BOR A AR &
AT R DL R AR Py R B

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of retail spaces
held under leases which were previously classified as operating
leases under IAS 17. The Group has initially applied IFRS 16
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
the Group adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to
recognise lease liabilities relating to these leases (see note 2). From
1 January 2019 onwards, future lease payments are recognised as
lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position

in accordance with the policies set out in note 2.

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE—JUFESNH =1 H LS A For the six months ended 30 June 2019

17 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(PR AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R=F—E R_FT—N\E
ARSTE t-A=t—H
At 30 June At 31 December
2019 2018
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB 000
Mortgage loan guarantees provided by
the Group to banks in favour of
its customers 207,987 96,309

ZAE PRI BT W &5 1 SRAT $R A
B S 1 W) SE T A R A A o A o i
RN AL BN G RS - a1 > A%
% 2 A T U R 5 B0 R IR R RR AR 2 T
MR K > B2 583 A5 B 2E H K
EHA AR AR HOBL AR 0 IR B 40T
SRR EF-IEAAZFARSE
=N+ ZH =+ — AR EE

18 FEBB T B 18
@) MEWCBR I 7 kA

These guarantees will be released upon receiving the property ownership
certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers
as a pledge for security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of
the Directors, the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the
Group at initial recognition are insignificant and the Directors consider
that the possibility of default by the purchasers of the Group’s properties
is remote. Accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of

the guarantee contracts and as at 30 June 2019 and 31 December 2018.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

(a) Amounts due from related parties

REF—hE  RoF—N\EF

ARZ+H +ZA=+—H

At 30 June At 31 December

2019 2018

AN BT AR T

RMB’000 RMB 000

HEME Joint ventures 27,359 -
/N Associates 15,106 15,106
42,465 15,106

Interim Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BZEZE—JUFENH =4 H 1L A For the six months ended 30 June 2019
(BRAF AR AN DL R W3R Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

18 TG B ) 18 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (Continued)
(b) A B Ik sk (b) Amounts due to related parties

REF—E R-F—N\F
AR=Z+H +ZA=+—H
At 30 June At 31 December

2019 2018
A BT T ANRETT
RMB’000 RMB000
BB E Joint ventures 81,491 28,340
ik /N Associates 310,764 283,565
392,255 311,905
19 BT 19 COMPARATIVE FIGURES
AEFCR -F—NE—-A— ALK The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
BT B W9 T OO IRE D I R B 5 45 Y ) modified retrospective method. Under this approach, comparative
1698 o WA % 7 i - I M E A LR information is not restated. Further details of the changes in accounting
B o A B e T BUR 2 8 13— 5 FE I IR policies are disclosed in note 2.
W REoH 55 -
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